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To our valued shareholders:
We are pleased to provide the semi-annual report for the period ended 

February 29, 2016.  This report comes at a time when Saskatchewan’s 

economy has slowed due to the prolonged duration of lower oil prices, 

which in the reporting period declined a further 27.9%. This is compounded 

by continued depressed commodity prices for both uranium and potash.  In 

this reporting period, potash prices declined a further 6.9% while uranium 

spot prices fell an additional 12.5%.  These factors 

contributed to the Saskatchewan economy 

contracting in 2015 by an estimated 0.9% as 

reported by TD Economics, while it is projected 

to experience very modest growth in 2016  

of 0.4%.1   

These cycles are inevitable when you are a 

commodity and export-driven economy such 

as Saskatchewan. However, similar to Golden 

Opportunities’ portfolio, due to the province’s 

diversification and fundamentally strong 

foundation we will weather this period of 

uncertainty and contraction. Stimulus spending 

on infrastructure by both the federal and 

provincial government will help support the 

economic recovery until commodity prices recover,  

a process driven by global macro factors. 

The economic conditions in Canada and Saskatchewan are reflected in 

people’s investment activity during the reporting period which included 

the 2016 RRSP season.  The cautious concern of the economy, negative 

sentiments coming from Alberta and the oil patch in general are all factors 

that contributed to a 4.0% decline in the percentage of Canadians that 

contributed to RRSPs this tax year compared to last year.  Additionally, the 

average amount residents in the Prairies, comprised of Saskatchewan and 

Manitoba, contributed to their RRSP was down 18% from $4,467 last tax 

year compared to $3,668 this year according to BMO Financial Group.2  The 

federal tax credit available on investments into Retail Venture Capital (RVC) 

Funds was reduced from 15% to 10% by the former Conservative federal 

government for the 2015 tax year.  As a combined result of these factors, 

Golden Opportunities raised approximately $33 million during the  

2016 RRSP season which is down by almost 18% from the previous RRSP 

season and equivalent to the decrease in the average RRSP contribution  

by Prairie residents this tax year. As a whole, Saskatchewan’s RVC Fund  

asset class experienced a decline in aggregate overall sales over the 

previous year. 

Following the 2016 RRSP season, the new Liberal federal government 

announced their first budget on March 22, 2016 in which they delivered 

on their campaign promise to fully reinstate the 

15% federal tax credit attributable to Provincial 

RVC Funds.  This will apply to the 2016 and all 

subsequent tax years which, combined with the 

ongoing provincial tax credit, restores the total  

tax credit available to the original amount of  

35% in Saskatchewan and 30% in Manitoba. Based 

on the Fund’s eight year hold period, the return 

attributable to the tax credits alone is approximately 

4.0%, which far exceeds the historically low interest 

rates on deposits today.  The Fund anticipates that 

the full restoration of the federal tax credit will result 

in increased demand for Golden Opportunities in 

the market.  

In this reporting period, the Fund launched the  

F Series of shares approved by special resolution of shareholders on 

January 13, 2016 for each of the Diversified Class A-share, Innovation 

Class i-share and Resource Class R-share.  The F Series has all of the same 

rights, tax credit eligibility, redemption features, attributes and portfolio 

investments of the corresponding share class.  It is however, intended for 

sale in fee-based accounts and will not pay upfront sales commissions 

or trailer fees to financial advisors for selling the Fund’s units, nor will it 

be subject to deferred sales charges (early redemption fees).  Although 

the launch of the F Series occurred late in the 2016 RRSP season, with 

minimum sales, it is now available as an important option for financial 

advisors in an ever changing regulatory environment which is moving 

toward this type of product. 

Message 
FroM Fund 
ManageMent

the full federal tax 
credit has been 

reinstated for golden 
opportunities 

investors in the 2016 
and all subsequent 

tax years!

 AwArded

by Globefund
as at February 29, 2016 for both 

a-share and i-share. 

/ 5
Maintained ranking of 4/5 stars by 
Globefund as at February 29, 2016 and 
remained the top performing provincial 
RVC Fund share class in Saskatchewan!*

    1 TD Economics Provincial Economic Forecast, April 2016 
  2 BMO Annual Post-RRSP Deadline Study, March 2016
  * Class A-share based on 3 year returns as at February 29, 2016 per Globefund.com

 1

 
G

ol
de

n 
O

pp
or

tu
ni

tie
s F

un
d 

In
c.

  | 
 2

01
6 

se
m

i-a
nn

ua
l r

ep
or

t



The Fund’s largest and most diversified share class held its net asset value 

at approximately $260 million despite the economic contraction and 

challenges in the energy sector.  Partnership income increased to  

$9.8 million from $8.1 million in the comparable 2015 semi-annual 

reporting period due to the Fund’s continued focus on investing in 

established companies with a history of strong earnings.  Expenses were 

also down 15.8% from the same period last year as a result of a decrease in 

contingent incentive participation amount by $1.7 million.

Approximately $12 million of capital was returned to the Fund which 

consisted of $8.8 million from the successful exit of Anegada Energy Corp., 

resulting in a realized gain of over $5.1 million and a 51.2% internal rate of 

return (IRR) on this investment, more than $2.6 million from the repayment 

of preferred shares from Golden Health Care Inc. and promissory note 

repayments of $238,750 from Med-Life Discoveries LP.  The successful exit 

from the energy pillar was reallocated to the continued execution of an 

increased weighting towards management buyouts within companies that 

have a history of strong earnings. 

In anticipation of the prolonged challenges in the energy cycle, 
the strategy for the Diversified Class A-share has been to increase 
the weighting of the management buyout pillar and reduce the 
weighting of the oil and gas pillar. The following chart confirms the 
Fund’s continued achievement of this strategy this reporting period 
and subsequent. 

 

In the reporting period, returns for the Class A-share increased by 1.7%  

over the same period a year ago but were down from the August 31, 2015 

year-end by 3.1% due to the continued decline in commodity prices.  

These results outperformed the S&P/TSX Composite Total Return 
Index, S&P/TSX Venture Composite Index and S&P/TSX SmallCap Total 
Return Index year-over-year and on a six-month basis resulting in a  
4 out of 5 star Globefund ranking, maintaining Golden Opportunities 
as the top performing provincial RVC Fund in Saskatchewan based on 
3 year returns as at February 29, 2016.

* Based on fair value as a percentage of the Class A-share portfolio’s four pillars of focus

  MAnAGeMenT BuyOuTS

In this period, the Fund continued its focused strategy to increase the 

weighting of its management buyout pillar by investing alongside executive 

management teams in the buyout of strong local companies with a history of 

maintainable earnings.  

 

  HeAlTHCARe FACIlITIeS

The newest and largest personal care home under construction in Warman, 

Saskatchewan reached 80% completion in the reporting period while other 

care homes in the portfolio such as Swift Current, Prince Albert, North 

Battleford, Saskatoon, Emerald Park and Estevan are at,  or near,  resident 

capacity which include 457 residents in aggregate. 

  OIl AnD GAS

The prolonged challenges in the oil and gas sector from low prices have been 

well-communicated in the media. This pillar weighting in the Diversified Class 

A-share has been reduced by approximately 15% over the past three years 

and publicly traded oil and gas holdings have been minimized to 0.4% of 

the venture portfolio. The recent successful exit of Anegada Energy Corp. for 

$8.8 million was a positive exit and reallocation of capital to the management 

buyout pillar.  With the exception of an investment of $390,000 in Burgess 

Creek Exploration Inc., part of a $70 million oversubscribed private placement 

in a proven management team focused on light oil assets in Southern 

Saskatchewan, no additional allocations of capital were made in this pillar. 

  MATuRe InnOVATIOn PORTFOlIO

No additional equity investments were made in the mature innovation 

portfolio as the Fund continues to focus on bringing its long-standing 

technology companies to an exit and realization. Credit and debt yielding 

facilities in aggregate of approximately $537,000 were completed to various 

innovation companies with the majority to FTI Consulting Canada Inc., 

retained to execute a restructuring and global sale process of Phenomenome 

Discoveries Inc.’s portfolio of patents on its diagnostic and therapeutic 

technologies. 

The Class A-share invested $10.5 million into H.J.R. Asphalt LP (“H.J.R.”) 

in partnership with key executive employees and a local private equity 

fund.  As a market leader and one of Saskatchewan’s largest paving 

companies, H.J.R. lays approximately 400,000 tonnes of asphalt per year 

with its team of up to 120 employees at the peak of its construction 

season.  This infrastructure company is not directly impacted by the 

current commodity cycles and is aligned with the constant demand 

for highway improvements as evidenced by the increased highway 

spending announced in the recent provincial election.

The Fund successfully increased its  
weighting in management buyouts,

and decreased its weighting in oil and gas.

   Management 
Buyouts 
(MBos)

   oil & gas
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The Innovation Class i-share 
experienced the largest growth in net 
assets this reporting period, increasing 
by 13.5% to $23.7 million from $20.8 
million at fiscal year-end 
2015.  

Income also increased to over $1.0 million for 

the reporting period supporting the i-share’s 

positive twelve month performance of 2.3% 

and semi-annual performance of  

1.2% from August 2015 year-end.   

The increased net asset value and positive performance of the Innovation 

Class i-share is understandable in contrast to share classes that are 

impacted by challenges in the oil and gas sector. The Innovation i-share 
received a Globefund rating of 4 out of 5 stars as at February 29, 
2016 for its positive 1, 3 and 5 year returns. In the period, various 

milestones also occurred in the innovation companies currently within the 

portfolio,  for example:

With the Resource Class R-share having a 100% weighting in oil and gas and 

the price of oil dropping 34.3% from the comparable reporting period one 

year ago, and 27.9% from the August 2015 year-end report, the companies 

within this portfolio are faced with many challenges.  The net asset value for 

the share class increased marginally to $7.7 million from our year-end report 

2015 due to increased capital subscriptions but was offset with declines in 

reserve values attributable to continued lower price decks. 

In the period, we were pleased to exit Anegada Energy Corp. posting an 

IRR of 51.2% on this investment which helped minimize the Class R-share’s 

performance of negative 5.8% from the same period one year ago due to the 

challenges within the sector.  In turn, the results of the R-share surpassed the 

S&P/TSX Capped Energy Total Return Index which posted a negative 28.2% for 

the same period. 

SuMMARy 

The results from this semi-annual reporting period confirm Golden 

Opportunities’ strategic direction through the current cycle of slower growth 

in our economy and challenges presented by prolonged lower oil and gas 

and commodity prices. 

A successful capital raise in the 2016 RRSP season, in light of tough market 

factors, coupled with an important and positive 2016 Federal Budget 

announcement restoring the full 15% federal tax credit for 2016 and 

subsequent tax years ensures Golden Opportunities has the tools to be 

well-positioned into the future. Thank you for the ongoing support of your 

Saskatchewan RVC Fund. 

Sincere regards,

Grant J. Kook, C.Dir, S.O.M. 

President & CEO

The Fund’s execution toward an 
increased weighting in management 
buyouts and reduced weighting in 
publicly traded holdings has enabled 
Golden Opportunities to outperform 
indexes in the same period.

13.5%

Pothole Patcher

Solido Design Automation Inc. reported its strongest year 

of revenue and profitability in 2014 and then doubled 

both measures in 2015 due to growth in software sales 

to leading global semiconductor 

companies such as IBM and 

Qualcomm. 

 

SuperiorRoads Solutions Limited Partnership confirmed 

new sales contracts for three street sweepers with the City 

of Banff and eight new pothole patching machines to be 

deployed in the City of Montreal. 
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INTERIM MANAGEMENT REPORT  
OF FUND PERFORMANCE
This interim management report of fund performance contains financial highlights but does not contain either the interim financial report or 
annual financial statements of Golden Opportunities Fund Inc. (“Golden”).  You can get a copy of the interim financial report or annual financial 
statements at your request, and at no cost, by calling 1-866-261-5686, by writing to us at Suite 830, 410 – 22nd Street East Saskatoon, SK,  
S7K 5T6, by visiting our website at www.goldenopportunities.ca, or SEDAR at www.sedar.com.

Securityholders may also contact us using one of these methods to request a copy of Golden’s proxy voting policies and procedures, proxy 
voting disclosure record, or quarterly portfolio disclosure.

Unless otherwise specified, all references to “net assets” or “net assets per share” in this report are references to net assets attributable to 
holders of redeemable shares determined in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as presented in the financial 
statements of Golden.  All references to “net asset value” or “net asset value per share” in this report are references to net asset value determined 
for purposes of purchase and redemption of Class A shares, Class A-F shares, Class I shares, Class I-F shares, Class R shares, and Class R-F shares.  
An explanation of the differences can be found in Note 8 to the February 29, 2016 interim financial statements. 

The Class A-F shares, Class I-F shares and Class R-F shares (the “F Series”) represent a new option to invest in Golden. On January 13, 2016, 
Golden amended its articles to create the F Series of shares. The F Series offering was in response to recent changes in the regulatory 
environment and at the request of Advisors and Dealers operating under fee-based compensation models. The F Series have, in all material 
respects, the same rights, redemption features, tax credit eligibility and attributes as the Class A shares, Class I shares and Class R shares, 
except that the F Series has a different commission structure. The F Series have no commissions, trailer fees or deferred sales charges (early 
redemption fee). The first Class A-F share was issued on February 12, 2016, the first Class I-F share and Class R-F share were issued on  
February 19, 2016.

For the purpose of this report the “Class A Fund” will refer to the Class A shares inclusive of the Class A-F shares, “Class I Fund” will refer to the 
Class I shares inclusive of the Class I-F shares, and “Class R Fund” will refer to the Class R shares inclusive of the Class R-F shares.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION OF FUND PERFORMANCE

Investment Objective and Strategies
The investment objective of Golden is to invest its eligible capital in small and medium-sized Saskatchewan and Manitoba eligible businesses 
with the goal of maximizing shareholder returns through the long-term appreciation of Golden’s net asset value.  Golden invests its share 
capital in companies that meet the investment criteria as defined in The Labour-sponsored Venture Capital Corporations Act (Saskatchewan) (the 
“Saskatchewan Act”) and related regulations and The Labour-Sponsored Venture Capital Corporations Act (Manitoba) (the “Manitoba Act”) and 
related regulations.

Golden issues two share classes in both Saskatchewan and Manitoba, a diversified share class, the Class A and Class A-F, and an innovation share 
class, the Class I and Class I-F, and issues a resource share class in Saskatchewan only, the Class R and Class R-F. For the Class A Fund, Golden 
intends to provide diversification for its shareholders by investing in a wide range of industry sectors in both Saskatchewan and Manitoba. 
Golden further seeks to diversify its investments according to stage of development and will invest in businesses that are in the start-up, growth, 
and mature stages of the business development cycle. The Class I Fund invests in companies in the innovation sector of the Saskatchewan 
and Manitoba economies. These sectors include, but are not limited to, information and communication technology, life sciences, industrial 
biotechnology, clean technology, value-added agriculture, and advanced manufacturing. The Class R Fund will invest in companies in the 
energy, mining and/or related resource services sectors of the Saskatchewan economy. For all shares, Golden generally makes investments with 
the expectation that the holding period will be five to eight years.

Golden’s manager, Westcap Mgt. Ltd. (the “Fund Manager”), performs a fundamental analysis of each investment opportunity including, but not 
limited to, an analysis of:

•	 the	experience	of	management	personnel,	

•	 the	industry	and	the	competitive	position	of	the	company	within	its	market,	

•	 the	past	performance	and	business	plan	of	the	company,	

•	 the	financial	statements,	projections	and	forecasts	of	the	company,	

•	 the	expected	return	on	investment,	

•	 exit	strategies,	

•	 and	the	risks	of	the	company.		
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The particular form of Golden’s investments is selected and negotiated after taking into account the investment objectives and criteria of 
Golden.  Golden has diversified its investment portfolio in all share classes through the use of instruments such as common shares, preferred 
shares, convertible preferred shares, partnership units, debentures, convertible debentures, term loans, participating loans, warrants, and options.  
When possible, where Golden makes an investment by way of a debt instrument, Golden will secure its investment by a charge over the 
business’ assets.  This charge may be subordinated to other lenders’ security.  Golden takes the security with the goal of limiting the downside 
risk of the investment. 

Risks 
(in thousands of dollars)

The risks of investing in Golden remain as discussed in Golden’s prospectus dated December 18, 2015 (as amended on February 5, 2016).  The 
shares of Golden are highly speculative in nature and are suitable only for investors able to make a long-term investment.  The investments 
made by Golden involve a longer commitment than what is typical for other types of investments made by mutual funds.  Many such 
investments require between five to eight years in order to mature and generate the returns expected by Golden.  

There may be changes introduced to the Income Tax Act (Canada), the Saskatchewan Act, or the Manitoba Act that may be unfavourable to 
Golden’s ability to attract further investment.  In addition, the legislation in Saskatchewan requires labour-sponsored venture capital corporations 
to invest a prescribed percentage of its annual net capital (being annual capital raised less annual capital required to satisfy redemption 
obligations) in eligible innovation activities.  Eligible innovation activities include: (i) activities carried out by an eligible business whose principal 
business is directly related to one or more of the following sectors: clean or environmental technology, health and life sciences, crop and animal 
sciences, industrial biotechnology or information and communication technology; or (ii) activities carried out by an eligible business that 
involves technical risk, productivity improvement or the application of a technology, process or innovation that is new to Saskatchewan and 
facilitates growth, supports trade or exports or enhances Saskatchewan’s competitiveness.  The prescribed amount is 15% in 2015-2016 and 
18.75% in 2016-2017 and thereafter.

Golden has made the innovation sector a key pillar of its Class A Fund and the Class I Fund is focused exclusively on investment in innovation.  
While eligible innovation sector investments for the purposes of the Class I Fund, the agreement entered into between Golden and Western 
Economic Diversification Canada and by the legislation in Saskatchewan are similar, they are not identical. 

Under the Saskatchewan Act, Golden is required to invest and maintain at least 75% of its equity capital raised in Saskatchewan in investments in 
eligible Saskatchewan companies within two years from the fiscal year end of raising the equity capital.  For share capital raised in Saskatchewan, 
as at February 29, 2016, Golden had invested $192,648.  Based on this level of investment, Golden has met its Saskatchewan investment 
requirements.  

Under the Manitoba Act, Golden is required to invest and maintain at least 70% of its equity capital raised in Manitoba in investments in eligible 
Manitoba companies within two years from the fiscal year end of raising the equity capital, and 14% of the equity capital so invested must be in 
eligible investments for which the total cost of the eligible investments held by Golden in such entity and any related entities does not exceed 
$2 million.  For share capital raised in Manitoba, as at February 29, 2016, Golden had invested $3,475 and will need to make additional eligible 
Manitoba investments prior to August 31, 2016 in order to remain in compliance with its Manitoba investment requirements.    

The business of Golden is to invest its eligible capital in Saskatchewan and Manitoba eligible businesses and in proportion to the jurisdiction 
where it was raised.  There is a risk Golden will not be able to find suitable investments that meet its investment criteria.  Over the past year, 
Golden has once again demonstrated its ability to find companies that meet Golden’s investment standards.  For the six months ended February 
29, 2016, the Class A Fund has made venture investments of $20,245 in 7 companies, Class I Fund venture investments of $522 in 4 companies, 
and Class R Fund venture investments of $923 in 2 companies.

Class A Fund
For the Class A Fund, the Fund attempts to mitigate the risk of its investment portfolio by investing in a diverse range of industries, and investing 
in companies at different stages of the business cycle.  As at February 29, 2016, the Class A Fund’s top four sectors based on cost were oil & gas, 
services, value added manufacturing and biotechnology.  For diversification, as at February 29, 2016, the Class A Fund is invested in 12 different 
industry sectors.  The Class A Fund continues to hold investments in companies at each stage of the business development cycle.  During the 
time the Class A Fund holds an investment, a portfolio company will move through the different stages of the business development cycle.  As 
at February 29, 2016, the Class A Fund’s venture investment portfolio, based on investment cost, was 23.63% mature, 55.51% growth, and 20.86% 
start-up.  The total cost base of the Class A Fund’s venture investment portfolio represents 72% of the Class A Fund’s net assets, and the cost base 
of the top five portfolio holdings represents 28% of the Class A Fund’s net assets.  Over the past five years, the cost base of the top five holdings 
as a percentage of Class A Fund’s net assets has been in the range of 23% - 29%. 

Class I Fund
The Class I Fund invests in companies in the innovation sector of the Saskatchewan and Manitoba economies.  These sectors include, but are 
not limited to, information and communication technology, life sciences, industrial biotechnology, clean technology, value-added agriculture, 
and advanced manufacturing.  As at February 29, 2016, the Class I Fund was invested in 14 companies within four different industry sectors.  
Within the different stages of the business development cycle, as at February 29, 2016, the Class I Fund’s venture investment portfolio, based on 
investment cost, was 25.98% mature, 61.08% growth and 12.94% start-up.  The total cost base of the Class I Fund venture investments represents 
31% of the Class I Fund’s net assets.  For investments made by the Class I Fund, Golden has entered into a loss support program with Western 
Economic Diversification Canada which will provide loss protection support to Class I shareholders.  Details of the loss support program are 
contained in Golden’s prospectus.
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Class R Fund
The Class R Fund invests in companies in the energy, mining and/or related resource services sectors of the Saskatchewan economy.  As at 
February 29, 2016, the Class R Fund was invested in eight companies within the oil & gas sector.  Within the different stages of the business 
development cycle, as at February 29, 2016, the Class R Fund’s venture investment portfolio, based on investment cost, was 34.62% growth 
and 65.38% start-up.  The total cost base of the Class R Fund’s venture investments represents 36% of the Class R Fund’s net assets.

Please see Note 13 to the financial statements for disclosure about the nature and extent of risks relative to financial instruments and how 
Golden manages those risks.

Valuing venture investments is inevitably based on inherent uncertainties and the resulting values may differ from values that would have 
been used had a ready market existed for the investments.  

Results of Operations

Net Assets 
(in thousands of dollars except per share amounts and number of shares)

The net assets of the Class A Fund decreased from $264,145 as at August 31, 2015 to $259,947 as at February 29, 2016.  Net asset value per 
Class A share decreased from $15.38 as at August 31, 2015 to $14.90 as at February 29, 2016, a decrease of 3.12%.  The Class A-F share was 
initially issued at a price of $15.03 on February 12, 2016, and the net asset value per Class A-F share was $14.91 at February 29, 2016.

The decrease in the net assets of the Class A Fund of $4,198 is attributable to a decrease in net assets from operations of $8,219 for the six 
months ended February 29, 2016, partially offset by an increase in share capital of $4,021 during the period.   The Class A Fund raised proceeds 
of $23,724, from the issue of shares during the six months ended February 29, 2016 and incurred $19,703 of redemptions, representing 7.67% 
of the outstanding share capital.  During the six months ended February 29, 2016, the number of Class A shares outstanding increased from 
17,179,569 to 17,437,942, and 9,968 Class A-F shares were issued during the period. 

Cash and short-term investments of the Class A Fund increased from $41,365 at August 31, 2015 to $44,857 as at February 29, 2016 largely 
due to $11,978 of repayments or disposition of venture investments and $1,260 of net share capital received in the period, offset by $11,456 of 
venture investments made. The Class A Fund continues to hold cash and liquid short-term investments to maintain sufficient liquidity to meet 
shareholder redemptions, operational requirements, and future venture investments.         

As at February 29, 2016, the net assets of the Class I Fund totaled $23,659, an increase of $2,824 from August 31, 2015.  The increase in net 
assets of the Class I Fund is attributable to an increase in share capital of $2,543 after redemptions, as well as an increase in net assets from 
operations for the six months ended February 29, 2016 of $281.  The net asset value per Class I share increased from $10.65 as at August 31, 
2015 to $10.78 as at February 29, 2016, an increase of 1.22%.  The Class I-F share was initially issued at a price of $10.68 on February 19, 2016, 
and the net asset value per Class I-F share was $10.80 at February 29, 2016.

During the six months ended February 29, 2016, the Class I Fund raised proceeds of $2,622 from the issue of shares and incurred $79 of 
redemptions, representing 0.35% of the outstanding  share capital.  The number of Class I shares outstanding increased from 1,955,588 to 
2,193,894 during the six months ended February 29, 2016, and 20 Class I-F shares were issued in the period.  

As at February 29, 2016, the net assets of the Class R Fund totaled $7,684, an increase of $284 from February 29, 2016.  The increase in net 
assets of the Class R Fund is attributable to an increase in share capital of $1,028 after redemptions offset by a decrease in net assets from 
operations of $744 for the six months ended February 29, 2016.  Net asset value per Class R share decreased from $10.54 as at August 31, 2015 
to $9.52 as at February 29, 2016, a decrease of 9.68%. The Class R-F share was initially issued at a price of $9.52 on February 19, 2016, and the 
net asset value per Class R-F share was $9.54 at February 29, 2016.

During the six months ended February 29, 2016, the Class R Fund raised proceeds of $1,040 from the issue of shares and incurred redemptions 
of $12, representing 0.15% of the outstanding share capital. The number of Class R shares outstanding increased from 702,193 to 807,392 
during the six months ended February 29, 2016, and 22 Class R-F shares were issued in the period.  

Statement of Comprehensive Income 
(in thousands of dollars)

Income

Excluding net realized and unrealized gains, income for the Class A Fund for the six months ended February 29, 2016 was $11,194 compared 
to $11,581 for the six months ended February 28, 2015. Partnership income increased by $1,669 primarily due to additional income allocations 
received from new Class A Fund investments in partnerships over the past year.  Interest income decreased by $1,880 from the six months 
ended February 28, 2015 due primarily to interest of $802 received from Credence Resources LP in the comparative period, as well as the 
reversal of interest receivable allowances of $1,099 in the six months ended February 28, 2015.  Dividend income decreased by $179 from the 
comparative period, primarily due to non-recurring dividends that were received in the six months ended February 28, 2015 that were not 
received in the current period.  
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Income for the Class I Fund excluding net unrealized gains was $758 for the six months ended February 29, 2016 compared to $564 for the 
six months ended February 28, 2015, an increase of $194.  The increase in income is attributable to additional interest of $199 earned on the 
debenture investment in Yolbolsum Canada Inc. that was not held during the entire comparative period, and a $157 increase in the Class I 
Fund’s partnership income allocation from investee partnerships.  These increases in income were offset by a decrease in interest of $41 as a 
result of the disposition of debt investments in Solido Design Automation Inc. and West Mountain Environmental Corp. in the prior year.   

Excluding net realized and unrealized gains, income for the Class R Fund was $11 for the six months ended February 29, 2016, a decrease of $5 
from the six months ended February 28, 2015, mainly due to interest of $4 received from Credence Resources LP in the comparative period.

Expenses

Excluding the change in the contingent incentive participation amount (“IPA”) and the IPA, expenses for the Class A Fund increased from 
$6,024 in the six months ended February 28, 2015 to $6,193 in the current period.  The increase in expenses is reflective of the increased 
variable costs of operating a larger Fund.  For the six months ended February 29, 2016, the average net asset value of the Class A Fund was 
$260,888, and for the comparative period the average net asset value was $245,081.  

For the Class I Fund, expenses excluding the contingent IPA increased from $438 in the six months ended February 28, 2015 to $551 in 
the current period. The average net asset value of the Class I Fund was $21,379 for the six months ended February 29, 2016 and for the 
comparative period the average net asset value was $17,444.  

Excluding the change in the contingent IPA and the IPA, expenses for the Class R Fund for the six months ended February 29, 2016 were $200 
compared to $148 for the comparative period.  The average net asset value for the six months ended February 29, 2016 was $7,347, and for the 
comparative period the average net asset value was $5,743. 

Realized and unrealized gains 

For the six months ended February 29, 2016, the Class A Fund had net realized losses on venture investments of $5,883 and a net decrease 
in the unrealized appreciation of venture investments of $8,000.  During the period, $5,089 was reclassified from the unrealized appreciation 
to a realized gain as a result of the disposition of the investment in Anegada Energy Corp., and unrealized losses of $11,337 were reclassified 
to realized losses upon the disposition of NorAmera Bioenergy Corporation and NorAmera Technologies Inc. During the six months ended 
February 29, 2016, an IPA of $1,069 became payable upon disposition of the investment in Anegada Energy Corp. There was a decrease 
of $1,732 in the contingent IPA on the Class A Fund during the current period, which is not payable until a full exit from the applicable 
investments is realized.

During the six months ended February 29, 2016, the Class I Fund recognized a net increase of $249 in the unrealized value of the venture 
investment portfolio, and a decrease in the amount of the loss support program contributions considered repayable to Western Economic 
Diversification Canada of $37, as per the terms of the program.  The $37 has been recognized as an increase in unrealized loss recovery.  
During the six months ended February 29, 2016 there was an increase of $175 in the contingent IPA on the Class I Fund, which is not payable 
until a full exit from the applicable investments is realized.

The Class R Fund recognized a net decrease in the unrealized value of the venture investment portfolio of $1,067 for the six months ended 
February 29, 2016 due to a decrease in fair value of its private investee companies.  A decrease in the contingent IPA on the Class R Fund of 
$185 has also been recognized during the period, which is not payable until a full exit from the applicable investment is realized. During the 
six months ended February 29, 2016, an IPA of $87 became payable upon the $414 realized gain on disposition of the investment in Anegada 
Energy Corp.

Investment Portfolio 
(in thousands of dollars)

Class A Fund

The cost base of the Class A Fund’s  investments decreased from $191,256 at August 31, 2015 to $186,023 as at February 29, 2016.  The 
decrease of $5,233 was attributable to cash investments of $11,456 and capitalized partnership income of $9,772, offset by partnership 
distributions and investment repayments totaling $11,767 and cash disposals of investments with a cost base totaling $14,694.  Significant 
investments were as follows:

	 •	 	a	new	investment	of	$10,528	in	H.J.R.	Asphalt	LP,	a	long-standing	Saskatchewan	highway	construction	company	headquartered	in	 
Saskatoon, SK;

	 •	 	follow-on	investments	totaling	$490	in	Phenomenome	Discoveries	Inc.	(including	$439	through	FTI	Consulting	Canada	Inc.	in	its	capacity	as	
receiver); and

	 •	 	a	new	investment	of	$390	in	Burgess	Creek	Exploration	Inc.,	an	oil	and	gas	exploration	and	production	company	focused	on	light	oil	
opportunities in southeast Saskatchewan.

Golden recognizes income earned from partnerships as revenue, with a corresponding increase to the cost base of the investment.  
Distributions from partnerships are then recorded as a reduction in the cost base when received.  At February 29, 2016 undistributed 
partnership income totaling $11,182 is included in the cost base of the Class A Fund investments in Warman Home Centre LP, SuperiorFarms 
Solutions LP, Prairie Meats LP, Dyna Holdings LP, and H.J.R Asphalt LP.
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Under the Saskatchewan Act, and pursuant to the exercise of ministerial discretion, Golden must divest existing investments in public 
companies with a market capitalization of $500,000 or more on or before the date that is 24 months after the last day of the fiscal year in which 
the capitalization of the eligible business first exceeded $500,000.  As at February 29, 2016, the Class A Fund held two investments in public 
companies with market capitalizations greater than $500,000, representing 0.28% of the net asset value of the Class A Fund.  Both of these 
investments were disposed of in March 2016 in accordance with the requirements of the Saskatchewan Act.  

The accompanying charts illustrate the diversification of the Class A Fund’s investments across different industry sectors based on the cost of 
the investments. 

During the six months ended February 29, 2016, the Class A Fund’s investment in the Renewable Energy sector decreased from 8% to 3% 
due to the disposal of the Fund’s investments in NorAmera Bioenergy Corporation and NorAmera Technologies Inc. during the period.  The 
investment in H.J.R. Asphalt LP during the six months ended February 29, 2016 is the Class A Fund’s only investment in the Infrastructure 
sector, which now comprises 5% of the portfolio of the Class A Fund at February 29, 2016.

Class I Fund

The cost base of the Class I Fund’s venture investments increased from $6,685 as at August 31, 2015 to $7,371 as at February 29, 2016.  The 
increase was attributable to a follow-on investment of $211 in Phenomenome Discoveries Inc. (through FTI Consulting Canada Inc.), a follow-
on investment of $273 in Prairie Plant Systems Inc., and a follow-on investment of $14 in Yolbolsum Canada Inc., a biotechnology company 
headquartered in Saskatoon, SK.  These new investments were offset by the repayment of a $11 promissory note by Med-Life Discoveries 
LP.  At February 29, 2016, total undistributed partnership income of $628 is included in the cost base of the Class I Fund investments in 
SuperiorFarms Solutions LP and Dyna Holdings LP.  The diversification of the Class I Fund investment portfolio based on cost is presented in the 
accompanying charts.

The Biotechnology sector increased from 39% to 42% during the six months ended February 29, 2016 as a result of the follow-on investments 
in Phenomenome Discoveries Inc., FTI Consulting Canada Inc., Yolbolsum Canada Inc. and Prairie Plant Systems Inc.  These investments 
increased the total cost base of the portfolio and, as a result, the weightings attributable to other sectors have decreased accordingly.

Class A Fund Investment Sectors  
(FEbRUARy 29, 2016)

Class A Fund Investment Sectors  
(AUGUST 31, 2015)

environmental 2%
other 1%

technology 2%
oil & gas  31%renewable energy  3%

Infrastructure  5%

services 21%

Healthcare  9%

Value added Manufacturing  16%

Biotechnology  10%

environmental 2%

other 1%

technology 2% oil & gas  32%
renewable energy  8%

services 20%

Healthcare  10%

Value added Manufacturing  15%

Biotechnology  10%

Class I Fund Investment Sectors 
(AUGUST 31, 2015)

Class I Fund Investment Sectors  
(FEbRUARy 29, 2016)

oil & gas  5%

technology  10%

Biotechnology  42%

Value added Manufacturing  43%

oil & gas  6%

technology  11%

Biotechnology  39%

Value added Manufacturing  44%
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Class R Fund

The cost base of the Class R Fund’s venture investments decreased from $2,819 at August 31, 2015 to $2,729 as at February 29, 2016, due to the 
disposal of the Class R Fund investment in Anegada Energy Corp. with a cost of $300, partially offset by a new investment of $210 in Burgess 
Creek Exploration Inc.  All of the Class R Fund venture investments are in the Oil and Gas sector.    

Recent Developments
F Series
On January 13, 2016, Golden amended its articles to create the F Series of shares. The F Series offering was in response to recent changes in 
the regulatory environment and at the request of Advisors and Dealers operating under fee-based compensation models. The F Series have, 
in all material respects, the same rights, redemption features, tax credit eligibility and attributes as the Class A Shares, Class I Shares and Class 
R Shares, except that the F Series has a different commission structure. The F Series have no commissions, trailer fees or deferred sales charges 
(early redemption fee). The first Class A-F share was issued on February 12, 2016, the first Class I-F share and Class R-F share were issued on 
February 19, 2016.

Federal Budget
The federal government released its 2016 budget on March 22, 2016. Within the budget the federal government proposed to restore the 
Labour-Sponsored Venture Capital Corporations (LSVCC) tax credit to 15% for share purchases of provincially registered LSVCCs for 2016 and 
subsequent tax years. Golden is a provincially registered LSVCC. 

Related Party Transactions 
(in thousands of dollars)  
The Fund Manager is a company controlled by the President & Chief Executive Officer of Golden, and was engaged by an agreement dated 
December 31, 2008.  Please refer to the “Management Fees” section for a description of services provided by the Fund Manager. 

During the six months ended February 29, 2016, management fees, including GST, on the Class A Fund of $3,408 (six months ended February 
28, 2015 - $3,190) were paid or payable to the Manager, a company controlled by the President & Chief Executive Officer of Golden, and the 
Manager earned an IPA on the Class A Fund of $1,069 (six months ended February 28, 2015 - $nil).  At February 29, 2016 a contingent IPA was 
accrued on the Class A Fund in the amount of $19,966 (August 31, 2015 - $21,698).  

On the Class I Fund, management fees of $287 were paid or payable during the six months ended February 29, 2016 (February 28, 2015 - 
$224).  As at February 29, 2016, a contingent IPA was accrued on the Class I Fund in the amount of $782 (August 31, 2015 - $607).  There was no 
IPA paid or payable with respect to the Class I Fund for the six months ended February 29, 2016 or February 28, 2015.     

Management fees of $101 were paid or payable on the Class R Fund during the six months ended February 29, 2016 (six months ended 
February 28, 2015 – $73), and the Manager earned an IPA on the the Class R Fund of $87 (six months ended February 28, 2015 - $nil). At 
February 29, 2016, a contingent IPA was accrued on the Class R Fund in the amount of $74 (February 28, 2015 - $259).  

The Manager does not begin to earn the management fee with respect to the F Series until Golden has reached $5,000 in gross subscriptions 
for F Series shares.  As a result, Class A-F management fees of $1 were unearned in the six months ended February 29, 2016.  Unearned 
management fees on the Class I-F and Class R-F for the period ended February 29, 2016 were not significant.

In respect of the Class A Fund, office costs totaling $5 were paid or payable to the Manager in the six months ended February 29, 2016 (six 
months ended February 28, 2015 - $5).  There were no office or other costs paid or payable by the Class I Fund or Class R Fund to the Manager 
in the six months ended February 29, 2016 or February 28, 2015.    

At February 29, 2016, the accounts payable and accrued liabilities balance for the Class A Fund includes management fees payable to the 
Manager of $534 (August 31, 2015 - $571) and office and other costs payable to the Manager of $1 (August 31, 2015 - $1).  At February 29, 
2016, the accounts payable and accrued liabilities balance for the Class I Fund includes management fees payable to the Manager of $46 
(August 31, 2015 - $38).  Management fees payable to the Manager of $16 are included in the accounts payable and accrued liabilities balance 
for the Class R Fund at February 29, 2016 (August 31, 2015 - $13).  

The above-mentioned transactions were in the normal course of operations, are non-interest bearing, and are measured at the exchange 
amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
The following tables show selected key financial information about Golden and are intended to help you understand Golden’s financial 
performance for the past five years.  

Class A Fund  

Net Assets per Class A Share (1) 

Six months 
ended 

February 29, 
2016(2)

year ended August 31, 

2015(2) 2014(2) 2013(3) 2012(3) 2011(3)

Net assets, beginning of period $ 15.38 $ 15.05 $ 13.78 $ 13.31 $ 13.84 $ 13.55

Increase (decrease) from operations: 

Total revenue $ 0.64 $ 0.72 $ 1.03 $ 0.79 $ 0.32 $ 0.37

Total expenses (0.36) (0.72) (0.70) (0.50) (0.52) (0.55)

Realized (losses) gains (0.40) 0.30 0.07 (0.16) 0.22 (0.23)

Unrealized (losses) gains (0.36) 0.05 0.90 0.54 (0.39) 0.83

Total (decrease) increase from operations(4) $ (0.48) $ 0.34 $ 1.30 $ 0.67 $ (0.37) $ 0.42

Net assets at end of period shown $ 14.90 $ 15.38 $ 15.05 $ 13.78 $ 13.31 $  13.84

(1)   The information for the years ended August 31, 2011 – 2013 is derived from Golden’s audited annual financial statements, and is prepared 
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“Canadian GAAP”).  The information for the years ended August 31, 
2015 and 2014 has been derived from Golden’s audited financial statements and is prepared in accordance with IFRS.  The information for 
the six months ended February 29, 2016 is derived from Golden’s unaudited interim financial statements and is prepared in accordance with 
IFRS. The net assets per security presented in the financial statements differ from the net asset value calculated for fund pricing purposes.  An 
explanation of these differences can be found in Note 8 to Golden’s financial statements.  

(2)   Amounts presented for the six months ended February 29, 2016 and for the years ended August 31, 2014 and 2015 are prepared in accordance with IFRS.  

(3)   Amounts presented for the years ended August 31, 2011 - 2013 are prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP.  

(4)   Net assets are based on the actual number of shares outstanding at the relevant time.  The increase/decrease from operations is based on the 
weighted average number of shares outstanding over the financial period.  

Net Assets per Class A-F Shares (1)

Period ended 
February 29, 

2016

Net assets, beginning of period(2) $ 15.03

Increase (decrease) from operations: 

Total revenue $0.02

Total expenses (0.03)

Unrealized losses (0.22)

Total decrease from operations(3) $ (0.23)

Net assets as at end of period shown $ 14.91

 
(1)   The information for February 29, 2016 is derived from Golden’s unaudited interim financial statements and is prepared in accordance with 

IFRS.  

(2)   Operations with respect to the Class A-F series began February 12, 2016 with the first issuance of Class A-F shares at the price of $15.03.  

(3)   Net assets are based on the actual number of shares outstanding at the relevant time.  The increase/decrease from operations is based on the 
weighted average number of shares outstanding over the financial period.  
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Ratios and Supplemental Data – Class A Shares 

2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Total net asset value (000’s) (1) $ 259,799 $ 264,145 $ 246,246 $ 210,781 $ 190,544 $ 179,066

Number of shares outstanding (1) 17,437,942 17,179,569 16,357,822 15,314,245 14,304,839 12,877,663

Management expense ratio (2) 4.27% 7.31% 7.78% 6.21% 6.04% 6.50%

Trading expense ratio (3) - - 0.02% 0.02% 0.01% -

Portfolio turnover rate (4) 16.32% 4.57% 10.32% 6.79% 6.51% 11.85%

Net asset value per share $ 14.90 $ 15.38 $ 15.05 $ 13.76 $ 13.32 $ 13.91

 
(1)   For the years 2011 – 2015, this information is provided as at, and for the year ended, August 31; the 2016 information is as at February 29. 

(2)   Management expense ratio is based on total expenses (excluding commissions and other portfolio transaction costs) for the stated year and 
is expressed as an annualized percentage of average weekly net asset value during the period.  The management expense includes  operating 
expenses, share issue costs, incentive participation amounts on realized gains, and contingent incentive participation amounts accrued on 
unrealized gains.  

(3)   The trading expense ratio represents total commissions and other portfolio transaction costs expressed as an annualized percentage of the 
average weekly net asset value during the period.   The trading expense ratio for the year ended August 31, 2015 and period ending February 
29, 2016 was less than 0.01%.

(4)   Golden’s portfolio turnover rate indicates how actively Golden’s manager manages its portfolio investments.  A portfolio turnover rate of 
100% is equivalent to Golden buying and selling all of the securities in its portfolio once in the course of the year.  The higher a fund’s portfolio 
turnover in a year the greater the chance of an investor receiving taxable capital gains in the year.  There is not necessarily a relationship 
between a high turnover rate and the performance of Golden.

Ratios and Supplemental Data – Class A-F Shares 

2016

Total net asset value (000’s) (1) $ 148

Number of shares outstanding (1) 9,968

Management expense ratio (2) 3.39%

Trading expense ratio (3) -

Portfolio turnover rate (4) -

Net asset value per share $ 14.91

 
(1)   The 2016 information is at February 29. Golden issued its first Class A-F shares on February 12, 2016. 

(2)   Management expense ratio is based on total expenses (excluding commissions and other portfolio transaction costs) for the stated year and 
is expressed as an annualized percentage of average weekly net asset value during the period.  The management expense includes  operating 
expenses, share issue costs, incentive participation amounts on realized gains, and contingent incentive participation amounts accrued on 
unrealized gains.  

(3)   The trading expense ratio represents total commissions and other portfolio transaction costs expressed as an annualized percentage of the 
average weekly net asset value during the period. 

(4)   Golden’s portfolio turnover rate indicates how actively Golden’s manager manages its portfolio investments.  A portfolio turnover rate of 
100% is equivalent to Golden buying and selling all of the securities in its portfolio once in the course of the year.  The higher a fund’s portfolio 
turnover in a year the greater the chance of an investor receiving taxable capital gains in the year.  There is not necessarily a relationship 
between a high turnover rate and the performance of Golden.  
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Class I Fund
Net Assets per Class I Share(1)  

Six months 
ended 

February 29, 
2016(2)

year ended August 31, 

2015(2) 2014(2) 2013(3) 2012(3) 2011(3)

Net assets, beginning of period $ 10.65 $ 10.61 $ 10.07 $ 10.10 $ 9.99 $ 10.08

Increase (decrease) from operations: 

Total revenue $ 0.35 $ 0.53 $ 0.37 $ 0.20 $ 0.17 $ 0.15

Total expenses (0.27) (0.53) (0.53) (0.38) (0.39) (0.40)

Total expenses waived/recovered - - - 0.11 0.26 0.26

Unrealized gains 0.06 0.07 0.80 0.22 0.15 -

Total increase from operations(4) $ 0.14 $ 0.07 $ 0.65 $ 0.15 $ 0.19 $ 0.01

Net assets at end of period shown $ 10.78 $ 10.65 $ 10.61 $ 10.07 $ 10.10 $ 9.99

 

(1)   The information for the years ended August 31, 2011 – 2013 is derived from Golden’s audited annual financial statements, and is prepared 
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. The information for the year ended August 31, 2014 and 2015 has 
been derived from Golden’s audited financial statements and is prepared in accordance with IFRS. The information for the six months ended 
February 29, 2016 is derived from Golden’s unaudited interim financial statements and is prepared in accordance with IFRS. The net assets per 
security presented in the financial statements differ from the net asset value calculated for fund pricing purposes.  An explanation of these 
differences can be found in Note 8 to Golden’s financial statements.  

(2)   Amounts presented for the six months ended February 29, 2016 and for the years ended August 31, 2014 and 2015 are prepared in accordance 
with IFRS.  

(3)    Amounts presented for the years ended August 31, 2011 - 2013 are prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP.  

(4)    Net assets are based on the actual number of shares outstanding at the relevant time.  The increase/decrease from operations is based on the 
weighted average number of shares outstanding over the financial period.  

(5)    Golden has not incurred any realized gains or losses with respect to Class I shares since inception.

 Net Assets per Class I-F Shares(1)

Period ended  
February 29, 

2016

Net assets, beginning of period(2) $ 10.68

Increase (decrease) from operations: 

Total revenue $ 0.04

Total expenses (0.01)

Unrealized gains 0.10

Total increase from operations(3) $ 0.13

Net assets at end of period shown $ 10.80

 
(1)   The information for February 29, 2016 is derived from the unaudited interim financial statements and is prepared in accordance with IFRS.  

(2)   Operations with respect to the Class I-F shares began February 19, 2016 with the first issuance of Class I-F shares at the price of $10.68.  

(3)   Net assets are based on the actual number of shares outstanding at the relevant time.  The increase/decrease from operations is based on the 
weighted average number of shares outstanding over the financial period.  
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Ratios and Supplemental Data – Class I Shares 

2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Total net asset value (000’s) (1) $ 23,658 $ 20,835 $ 16,839 $ 11,340 $ 7,314 $ 4,701

Number of shares outstanding (1) 2,193,894 1,955,588 1,587,133 1,125,780 722,086 470,800

Management expense ratio (2) 6.84% 6.00% 7.68% 5.24% 3.19% 2.51%

Management expense ratio before  
waiver/recovery (3)

6.84% 6.00% 7.68% 6.87% 6.15% 5.76%

Portfolio turnover rate (4) 0.33% 11.83% 0.54% - - -

Net asset value per share $ 10.78 $ 10.65 $ 10.61 $ 10.07 $ 10.13 $ 9.99

 
(1)   For the years 2011-2015, this information is provided as at, and for the year ended, August 31; the 2016 information is as at February 29.

(2)   Management expense ratio is based on total expenses (excluding commissions and other portfolio transaction costs) for the stated year and 
is expressed as an annualized percentage of average weekly net asset value during the period.  The management expense include operating 
expenses, share issue costs, incentive participation amounts on realized gains, and contingent incentive participation amounts accrued on 
unrealized gains.

(3)   The Management expense ratio before waiver/recovery is based on management expense excluding waived management fees, unearned 
marketing service fees, and cost recoveries. 

(4)   Golden’s portfolio turnover rate indicates how actively Golden’s manager manages its portfolio investments.  A portfolio turnover rate of 
100% is equivalent to Golden buying and selling all of the securities in its portfolio once in the course of the year.  The higher a fund’s portfolio 
turnover in a year the greater the chance of an investor receiving taxable capital gains in the year.  There is not necessarily a relationship 
between a high turnover rate and the performance of Golden.    

(5)   Golden has not incurred any commissions or other portfolio transaction costs with respect to Class I shares since inception.

Ratios and Supplemental Data – Class I-F Shares    

          2016

Total net asset value (000’s) (1) $ 1

Number of shares  outstanding (1) 20

Management expense ratio (2) 2.07%

Portfolio turnover rate(3) -

Net asset value per share $ 10.80

 
(1)   The 2016 information is at February 29. Golden issued its first Class I-F shares on February 19, 2016. 

(2)   Management expense ratio is based on total expenses (excluding commissions and other portfolio transaction costs) for the stated year and 
is expressed as an annualized percentage of average weekly net asset value during the period.  The management expense includes  operating 
expenses, share issue costs, incentive participation amounts on realized gains, and contingent incentive participation amounts accrued on 
unrealized gains.  

(3)   Golden’s portfolio turnover rate indicates how actively Golden’s manager manages its portfolio investments.  A portfolio turnover rate of 
100% is equivalent to Golden buying and selling all of the securities in its portfolio once in the course of the year.  The higher a fund’s portfolio 
turnover in a year the greater the chance of an investor receiving taxable capital gains in the year.  There is not necessarily a relationship 
between a high turnover rate and the performance of Golden.  

(4)   Golden has not incurred any commissions or other portfolio transaction costs with respect to Class I-F shares since inception.
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Class R Fund
Net Assets per Class R Share (1)  

Six months 
ended 

February 29, 
2016(2)

year ended August 31, 

2015(2) 2014(2) 2013(3)

Net assets, beginning of period $ 10.54 $ 10.24 $ 10.22 $ 10.00

Increase (decrease) from operations: 

Total revenue $0.01 $0.05 $0.05 $0.04

Total expenses (0.27) (0.53) (0.57) (0.25)

Total expenses waived/recovered - - 0.10 0.17

Realized gains 0.45 0.02 - -

Unrealized (losses) gains for the period (1.20) 0.79 0.47 0.50

Total (decrease) increase from operations (4) $ (1.01) $ 0.32 $ 0.04 $ 0.46

Net assets as at end of period shown $ 9.52 $ 10.54 $ 10.24 $ 10.22

 

(1)   Active operations with respect to Class R shares began on January 4, 2013 with the first issue of Class R shares at the price of $10.00 per share.  
The information for the period ended August 31, 2013 is derived from Golden’s audited financial statements and is prepared in accordance 
with Canadian GAAP.  The information for the year ended August 31, 2014 and 2015 has been derived from Golden’s audited financial 
statements and is prepared in accordance with IFRS. The information for the six months ended February 29, 2016 is derived from Golden’s 
unaudited interim financial statements and is prepared in accordance with IFRS.

(2)   Amounts presented for the six months ended February 29, 2016 and for the years ended August 31, 2014 and 2015 are prepared in accordance 
with IFRS.  

(3)   Amounts presented for the period ended August 31, 2013 are prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP.  

(4)   Net assets are based on the actual number of shares outstanding at the relevant time.  The increase/decrease from operations is based on the 
weighted average number of shares outstanding over the financial period.

Net Assets per Class R-F Shares  (1)

Period ended 
February 29, 

2016

Net assets, beginning of period(2) $ 9.52

Increase (decrease) from operations: 

 Total expenses (0.01)

Unrealized gains 0.03

Total increase from operations(3) $ 0.02

Net assets at end of period shown $ 9.54

 
(1)   The information for February 29, 2016 is derived from the unaudited interim financial statements and is prepared in accordance with IFRS.  

(2)   Operations with respect to the Class R-F shares began February 19, 2016 with the first issuance of Class R-F shares at the price of $9.52.  

(3)   Net assets are based on the actual number of shares outstanding at the relevant time. The increase/decrease from operations is based on the 
weighted average number of shares outstanding over the financial period.  
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Ratios and Supplemental Data – Class R Shares 

2016 2015 2014 2013

Total net asset value (000’s) (1) $ 7,684 $ 7,400 $ 5,526 $ 2,951

Number of shares outstanding (1) 807,392 702,193 539,534 288,793

Management expense ratio (2) 2.86% 7.72% 6.40% 4.69%

Management expense ratio before waiver/recovery (3) 2.86% 7.72% 7.92% 8.82%

Portfolio turnover rate (4) 67.73% 4.25% 4.29% -

Net asset value per share $ 9.52 $ 10.54 $ 10.24 $ 10.22

 
(1)   For the years 2012-2015, this information is provided as at, and for the year ended, August 31; the 2016 information is as at  

February 29. 

(2)   Management expense ratio is based on total expenses (excluding commissions and other portfolio transaction costs) for the 
stated year and is expressed as an annualized percentage of average weekly net asset value during the period.  The management 
expense includes  operating expenses, share issue costs, incentive participation amounts on realized gains, and contingent incentive 
participation amounts accrued on unrealized gains.  

(3)   The Management expense ratio before waiver/recovery is based on management expense excluding waived management fees, 
unearned marketing service fees, and cost recoveries.

(4)   Golden’s portfolio turnover rate indicates how actively Golden’s manager manages its portfolio investments.  A portfolio turnover 
rate of 100% is equivalent to Golden buying and selling all of the securities in its portfolio once in the course of the year.  The higher 
a fund’s portfolio turnover in a year the greater the chance of an investor receiving taxable capital gains in the year.  There is not 
necessarily a relationship between a high turnover rate and the performance of Golden.    

(5)   Golden has not incurred any commissions or other portfolio transaction costs with respect to Class R shares since inception.

Ratios and Supplemental Data – Class R-F Shares    

          2016

Total net asset value (000’s) (1) $ 1

Number of shares  outstanding (1) 22

Management expense ratio (2) 2.23%

Portfolio turnover rate(3) -

Net asset value per share $ 9.54

 
(1)   The 2016 information is at February 29. Golden issued its first Class R-F series on February 19, 2016. 

(2)   Management expense ratio is based on total expenses (excluding commissions and other portfolio transaction costs) for the 
stated year and is expressed as an annualized percentage of average weekly net asset value during the period.  The management 
expense includes  operating expenses, share issue costs, incentive participation amounts on realized gains, and contingent incentive 
participation amounts accrued on unrealized gains.  

(3)   Golden’s portfolio turnover rate indicates how actively Golden’s manager manages its portfolio investments.  A portfolio turnover 
rate of 100% is equivalent to Golden buying and selling all of the securities in its portfolio once in the course of the year.  The higher 
a fund’s portfolio turnover in a year the greater the chance of an investor receiving taxable capital gains in the year.  There is not 
necessarily a relationship between a high turnover rate and the performance of Golden.

(4)   Golden has not incurred any commissions or other portfolio transaction costs with respect to Class R-F shares since inception.
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Management Fees 
(in thousands of dollars)

The annual management fee, which is calculated and payable monthly, is equal to 2.5% of the aggregate net asset value of Golden, on a class 
by class basis, as at each valuation date.  The Manager has been retained to manage and administer the business affairs of Golden , including 
the management of Golden’s investments in eligible businesses and its marketable securities investments, and maintain all required books and 
records of Golden .  The Manager is also responsible for seeking out and identifying investment opportunities and undertaking operational 
due diligence of the investment opportunities.  The Manager develops investment recommendations to the Board, monitors all investments, 
provides performance reports to the Board and makes disposition recommendations to the Board.  For these services, the Manager is 
compensated with the management fees.  A 20% IPA is also payable to the Manager, provided certain criteria have been met.  The IPA is only 
earned on realized gains and the realized investment performance of Golden .  The criteria are fully described in Golden’s Prospectus.   

PAST PERFORMANCE
The performance data provided does not take into account sales, redemption, or other optional charges payable by any shareholder that 
would have reduced returns.  Past performance does not necessarily indicate how a Fund will perform in the future.

year-by-year Returns
Class A Shares
The bar chart below shows the annual performance for each of the last ten completed fiscal year ends for Class A shares.  The bar chart shows, 
in percentage terms, how much an investment made on the first day of each financial year would have grown or decreased by the last day of 
each financial year.  The date of Golden’s financial year end is August 31. The 2016 percentage indicates Golden’s performance from September 
1, 2015 to February 29, 2016. 

Class A-F Series
The bar chart below shows the performance for the Class A-F shares for the period of February 12, 2016, the first day on which the Class A-F 
shares were issued, to February 29, 2016. The bar chart shows, in percentage terms, how much an investment made on the first day of issue 
would have grown by the last day of the period. 
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Class I Shares
The bar chart below shows the performance for each of the last six completed fiscal year ends for Class I shares.  The 2009 fiscal year end 
consists of the period from January 16, 2009, the first day on which the Class I shares were issued, to August 31, 2009.  The bar chart shows, in 
percentage terms, how much an investment made on the first day of each financial year would have grown or decreased by the last day of 
each financial year. The 2016 percentage indicates Golden’s performance from September 1, 2015 to February 29, 2016.

 
Class I-F Series
The bar chart below shows the performance for the Class I-F shares for the period of February 19, 2016, the first day on which the Class A-F 
shares were issued, to February 29, 2016. The bar chart shows, in percentage terms, how much an investment made on the first day of issue 
would have grown by the last day of the period. 

Class R Shares
The bar chart below shows the performance for each of the last two completed fiscal year ends for Class R shares.  The 2013 fiscal year end 
consists of the period from January 4, 2013, the first day on which the Class R shares were issued, to August 31, 2013.  The bar chart shows, in 
percentage terms, how much an investment made on the first day of the period would have grown by the last day of the period. The 2016 
percentage indicates Golden’s performance from September 1, 2015 to February 29, 2016. 

Class R-F Series
The bar chart below shows the performance for the Class R-F shares for the period of February 19, 2016, the first day on which the Class R-F 
shares were issued, to February 29, 2016. The bar chart shows, in percentage terms, how much an investment made on the first day of issue 
would have grown by the last day of the period. 

Year-by-Year returns for Class I shares
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SUMMARy OF INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO

Class A Fund
Below is a summary of the Class A Fund’s investment portfolio as at February 29, 2016.  The percentages shown are the investment’s fair value 
as a percentage of the Class A Fund’s net asset value as at February 29, 2016.  Throughout the financial year, the summary of investment 
portfolio may change due to ongoing portfolio transactions of the Class A Fund and a quarterly update is available upon request.

Top 25 Holdings
1. Warman Home Centre LP Equity             12.53%
2. Cash  12.14%
3. Golden Health Care Inc. Equity 8.58%
4. Prairie Plant Systems Inc. Debt 0.02%, Equity 6.39% 6.41%
5. Terra Grain Fuels Inc. Debt 1.95%, Equity 3.92% 5.87%
6. Credence Resources Limited Partnership Debt 3.49%, Equity 1.31% 4.80%
7. Field Exploration Limited Partnership Debt 3.86%, Equity 0.68% 4.54%
8. Med-Life Discoveries LP Equity 4.41%
9. Dyna Holdings LP Equity 4.23%
10. H.J.R. Asphalt Limited Partnership Equity 4.05%
11. Western Building Centres Limited Debt 3.92%
12. Avalon Oil & Gas Ltd. Equity 3.74%
13. Prairie Meats LP Equity 2.93%
14. Can Pro Ingredients Ltd. Equity 2.85%
15. Solido Design Automation Inc. Equity 2.49%
16. SuperiorFarms Solutions LP Equity 2.37%
17. Credence Resources II Limited Partnership Debt 2.21%
18. Jump.ca Wireless Supply Corp. Equity 2.17%
19. Phenomenome Discoveries Inc. Debt 0.23%, Equity 1.60% 1.83%
20. Affinity Credit Union Due June 20, 2016 Term Deposit 1.54%
21. Can Pro Capital Ltd. Debt 1.28%, Equity n/m* 1.28%
22. Affinity Credit Union Due February 28, 2017 Term Deposit 1.27%
23. Connect Energy Holdings Ltd. Equity 1.26%
24. Lift Petroleum Inc. Debt 1.00%, Equity 0.03% 1.03%
25. Villanova 4 Oil Corp. Equity 0.92%

*n/m – not material; less than 0.01% 

Class A Fund Venture Investments – by Sector  
Oil & Gas  22.76% 
Services  21.82% 
Biotechnology  14.49% 
Value Added Manufacturing 12.54% 
Healthcare  9.66% 
Renewable Energy  6.60% 
Technology  5.25% 
Infrastructure 4.56% 
Energy Services  1.41% 
Other  0.91%

  100.00%
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Class I Fund
Below is a summary of the Class I Fund’s investment portfolio as at February 29, 2016.  The percentages shown are the investment’s fair value as 
a percentage of the Class I Fund’s net asset value as at February 29, 2016.  Throughout the financial year, the summary of investment portfolio 
may change due to ongoing portfolio transactions of the Class I Fund and a quarterly update is available upon request.

1. Cash  20.47%
2. Royal Bank of Canada Due April 6, 2016 Bankers Acceptance 9.07%
3. Solido Design Automation Inc. Equity 9.01%
4. Prairie Plant Systems Inc. Debt 1.15%, Equity 7.69% 8.84%
5. Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce Due March 16, 2016 Bankers Acceptance 8.80%
6. Manulife Bank of Canada Due April 4, 2016 Bankers Discount Note 8.58%  
7. Dyna Holdings LP Equity 8.29%
8. National Bank of Canada Due May 31, 2016 Bankers Acceptance 8.27%
9. Toronto Dominion Due May 31, 2016 Term Deposit 5.02%
10. Affinity Credit Union Due April 29, 2016 Term Deposit 4.65%
11. SuperiorFarms Solutions Limited Partnership Equity 4.44% 
12. YolBolsum Canada Inc.  Debt  4.29%
13. Toronto Dominion Due May 15, 2016 Term Deposit 2.51%
14. Affinity Credit Union Due February 28, 2017 Term Deposit 2.30%
15. Med-Life Discoveries LP Equity 2.28%
16. Phenomenome Discoveries Inc. Debt 1.24%, Equity 0.22% 1.46%
17. Affinity Credit Union Due February 28, 2017 Term Deposit 1.06%
18. FTI Consulting Canada Inc. Debt 0.89%
19. Affinity Credit Union Due December 4, 2016 Term Deposit 0.85%
20. Affinity Credit Union Due December 23, 2016 Term Deposit 0.63%
21. Rite Way Real Estate Lending Corp. Debt 0.51%
22. MATRRIX Energy Technologies Inc. Equity 0.19%
23. Med-Life Discoveries GP Inc. Debt 0.01%, Equity n/m* 0.01%
24. Python Manufacturing Inc. Equity n/m*
25. Rite Way Mfg. Co. Ltd. Equity n/m*
26. SuperiorRoads Solutions LP Equity n/m*

*n/m – not material; less than 0.01% 

Class I Fund Venture Investments – by Sector  
Biotechnology 44.22% 
Value Added Manufacturing 32.91% 
Technology  22.41% 
Oil & Gas  0.46% 

     100.00%
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Class R Fund
Below is a summary of the Class R Fund’s investment portfolio as at February 29, 2016.  The percentages shown are the investment’s fair value as 
a percentage of the Class R Fund’s net asset value as at February 29, 2016.  Throughout the financial year, the summary of investment portfolio 
may change due to ongoing portfolio transactions of the Class R Fund and a quarterly update is available upon request.

1. Cash  27.10%
2. National Bank of Canada Due May 31, 2016 Bankers Acceptance 9.61%
3. Royal Bank of Canada Due April 6, 2016 Bankers Acceptance 9.10%
4. Credence Resources Limited Partnership Debt 6.24%, Equity 1.93% 8.17% 
5. Credence Resources II Limited Partnership Debt 7.65% 
6. Avalon Oil & Gas Ltd. Equity 6.18%
7. Toronto Dominion Due May 31, 2016 Bankers Acceptance 5.97%
8. Field Exploration Limited Partnership Debt 0.44%, Equity 4.65% 5.09%
9. Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce Due March 16, 2016 Bankers Acceptance 3.90%
10. Burgess Creek Exploration Inc. Equity 2.73%
11. Affinity Credit Union Due December 4, 2016 Term Deposit 2.73%
12. Affinity Credit Union Due February 28, 2016 Term Deposit 2.60%
13. Affinity Credit Union Due March 7, 2016 Term Deposit 2.47%
14. Lex Energy Partners LP Equity 2.32%
15. Millennium Stimulation Services Ltd. Equity 1.67%
16. Villanova 4 Oil Corp. Equity 1.60%
17. Affinity Credit Union Due February 28, 2017 Term Deposit 1.43% 

*n/m – not material; less than 0.01% 

Class R Fund Venture Investments – by Sector  
Oil & Gas    100.00%
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GOLDEN OPPORTUNITIES FUND INC.

F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S

F O R  T H E  S I x  M O N T H S  E N D E D  F E b R UA R y  29,  2016

( U N AU D I T E D )
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stateMents oF FInanCIaL PosItIon 
(unaudIted)
(in thousands of Canadian dollars except number of shares and per share amounts)

February 29, 2016 August 31, 2015
Class A Class I Class R Total Class A Class I Class R Total

ASSETS
Cash  $ 31,557  $ 4,844  $ 2,083  $ 38,484  $ 21,566  $ 3,390  $ 1,759  $ 26,715 
Short-term investments  13,300  12,241  2,906  28,447  19,799  12,396  2,088  34,283 
Subscriptions receivable  3,939  492  226  4,657  102  10  10  122 
Interest and other receivables  3,880  671  4  4,555  2,737  347  4  3,088 
Venture investments (Note 5)  231,037  9,512  2,721  243,270  244,270  8,577  3,878  256,725 

 283,713  27,760  7,940  319,413  288,474  24,720  7,739  320,933 
LIAbILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  1,513  299  95  1,907  2,489  220  75  2,784 
Redemptions payable  1,218  -    -    1,218  142  2  5  149 
Loss support program contributions and advances  
   (Note 6)  -    3,020  -    3,020  -    3,056  -    3,056 
Incentive participation amount payable  1,069  -    87  1,156  -    -    -    -   
Contingent incentive participation amount (Note 9(f ))  19,966  782  74  20,822  21,698  607  259  22,564 

 23,766  4,101  256  28,123  24,329  3,885  339  28,553 
Total net assets attributable to holders of   
   redeemable shares  $ 259,947  $ 23,659  $ 7,684  $ 291,290  $ 264,145  $ 20,835  $ 7,400  $ 292,380 

Net assets attributable to holders of  
   redeemable shares
     Class A  $ 259,799  $ 264,145 
     Class A-F  148  -   
     Class I  $ 23,658  $ 20,835 
     Class I-F  1  -   
     Class R  $ 7,683  $ 7,400 
     Class R-F  1  -   

 $259,947  $23,659  $7,684  $ 264,145  $20,835  $ 7,400 

Number of redeemable shares outstanding (Note 7)

     Class A  17,437,942 17,179,569 
     Class A-F  9,968  -   
     Class I  2,193,894  1,955,588 
     Class I-F  20  -   
     Class R 807,392  702,193 
     Class R-F  22  -   

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable  
   shares per share (Note 8)
     Class A  $ 14.90  $ 15.38 
     Class A-F  14.91  -   
     Class I  $ 10.78  $ 10.65 
     Class I-F  10.80  -   
     Class R  $ 9.52  $10.54 
     Class R-F  9.54  -   

Approved by the Board

_________________________________ Vice Chairman  _____________________________ Director

Brian Barber   Douglas W. Banzet

See accompanying notes.
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stateMents oF CoMPreHensIVe InCoMe
(unaudIted)
(in thousands of Canadian dollars except per share amounts)

Six months ended February 29, 2016 Six months ended February 28, 2015
Class A Class I Class R Total Class A Class I Class R Total

Income

Partnership income  $ 9,772  $ 364  $ -    $10,136  $ 8,103  $ 207  $ -    $ 8,310 
Interest income for distribution purposes 1,342  355  10  1,707  3,222  197  15  3,434 
Dividend income 54  -    -    54  233  -    -    233 
Other income 26  2  1  29  23  2  1  26 
Increase in unrealized loss recovery (Note 6) -  37  -    37  -    158  -    158 
Other changes in fair value of venture investments
   Net realized (loss) gain  (5,883)  -    414  (5,469)  5,820  -    10  5,830 
   Net (decrease) increase in unrealized
          appreciation of venture investments  (8,000)  249  (1,067)  (8,818)  (17,533)  (160)  27  (17,666)

 (2,689)  1,007  (642)  (2,324)  (132)  404  53  325 
Expenses
Administration fees  339  26  9  374  357  19  7  383 
Audit fees  46  3  1  50  55  3  1  59 
Custodian fees  65  8  5  78  64  8  4  76 
Directors’ fees and expenses  13  -    -    13  7  1  -    8 
Incentive participation amount (Note 9(f ))  1,069  -    87  1,156  -    -    -    -   
(Decrease) increase in contingent incentive  
     participation amount   (1,732)  175  (185)  (1,742)  544  56  (16)  584 
Independent review committee fees  1  -    -    1  1  -    -    1 
Legal fees  20  2  1  23  20  -    -    20 
Management fees (Note 9(a))  3,408  287  101  3,796  3,190  224  73  3,487 
Marketing service fees  242  27  10  279  280  29  10  319 
Office expenses  11  2  -    13  12  1  2  15 
Other expenses  41  7  2  50  41  5  2  48 
Percentage based payments (Note 9(b))  1,095  104  39  1,238  1,055  88  29  1,172 
Share issue costs  210  17  6  233  287  10  3  300 
Shareholder reporting costs  39  9  3  51  47  8  3  58 
Trailing commissions (Note 9(c))  642  59  21  722  603  42  14  659 
Transaction costs  21  -    2  23  5  -    -    5 

 5,530  726  102  6,358  6,568  494  132  7,194 
Total (decrease) increase in net assets  
     attributable to holders of redeemable  
     shares from operations  $ (8,219)  $ 281  $ (744)  $ (8,682)  $ (6,700)  $ (90)  $ (79)  $ (6,869)
(Decrease) increase in net assets attributable  
     to holders of redeemable shares from  
     operations 
     Class A  $ (8,218)  $ (6,700)
     Class A-F  (1)  -   
     Class I  $ 281  $ (90)
     Class I-F  -    -   
     Class R  $ (744)  $ (79)
     Class R-F  -    -   

 $ (8,219)  $ 281  $ (744)  $ (6,700)  $ (90)  $ (79)

(Decrease) increase in net assets  
     attributable to holders of redeemable  
     shares from operations per share 
     Class A  $ (0.48)  $ (0.41)
     Class A-F  (0.23)  -   
     Class I  $ 0.14  $ (0.05)
     Class I-F  $ 0.13  -   
     Class R  $ (1.01)  $ (0.14)
     Class R-F  $ 0.02  -   

 

See accompanying notes.
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stateMents oF CHanges In net assets  
attrIButaBLe to HoLders oF redeeMaBLe sHares 
(unaudIted)    
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

Six months ended February 29, 2016

Class A Class A-F Class I Class I-F Class R Class R-F Total

Net assets attributable to holders  
    of redeemable shares, beginning  
    of period  $ 264,145  $ -    $ 20,835  $ -    $ 7,400  $ -    $ 292,380 

(Decrease) increase in net assets  
     attributable to holders of redeemable  
     shares from operations  (8,218)  (1)  281  -    (744)  -    (8,682)

Redeemable share transactions 

     Issue of redeemable shares  23,575  149  2,621  1  1,039  1  27,386 

     Redemption of redeemable shares  (19,703)  -    (79)  -    (12)  -    (19,794)

Net increase from redeemable share  
     transactions  3,872  149  2,542  1  1,027  1  7,592 

Net assets attributable to holders  
     of redeemable shares,  
     end of period  $ 259,799  $ 148  $ 23,658  $ 1  $ 7,683  $ 1  $ 291,290 

Six months ended February 28, 2015

Class A Class A-F Class I Class I-F Class R Class R-F Total

Net assets attributable to holders  
    of redeemable shares, beginning  
    of period  $ 246,246  $ -    $ 16,839  $ -    $ 5,526  $ -    $ 268,611 

Decrease in net assets attributable to 
     holders of redeemable shares from  
     operations  (6,700)  -    (90)  -    (79)  -    (6,869)

Redeemable share transactions 

     Issue of redeemable shares  28,514  -    3,047  -    1,105  -    32,666 

     Redemption of redeemable shares  (17,055)  -    (76)  -    (10)  -    (17,141)

Net increase from redeemable share  
     transactions  11,459  -    2,971  -    1,095  -    15,525 

Net assets attributable to holders  
     of redeemable shares,  
     end of period  $ 251,005  $ -    $19,720  $ -    $ 6,542  $ -    $ 277,267 

See accompanying notes.
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stateMents oF CasH FLoWs 
(unaudIted)
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

Six months ended February 29, 2016 Six months ended February 28, 2015

Class A Class I Class R Total Class A Class I Class R Total

Cash flows from (used in) operating  
     activities

(Decrease) increase in net assets  
     attributable to holders of redeemable  
     shares from operations  $ (8,219)  $ 281  $ (744)  $ (8,682)  $ (6,700)  $ (90)  $ (79)  $ (6,869)

Adjustments for non-cash items:

    Partnership income  (9,772)  (364)  -    (10,136)  (8,103)  (207)  -    (8,310)

     Net realized loss (gain) on disposition of  
          venture investments  5,883  -    (414)  5,469  (5,820)  -    (10)  (5,830)

 Net decrease (increase) in unrealized  
          appreciation of venture investments  8,000  (249)  1,067  8,818  17,533  160  (27)  17,666 

Venture investments purchased  (11,456)  (522)  (210)  (12,188)  (24,923)  (1,202)  (779)  (26,904)

Venture investments repaid  3,167  11  -    3,178  4,728  -    76  4,804 

Partnership distributions received  8,600  189  -    8,789  2,192  -    -    2,192 

Proceeds on disposition of venture  
     investments  8,811  -    714  9,525  8,423  -    10  8,433 

Purchase of short-term investments  (16,176)  (13,289)  (2,717)  (32,182)  (12,899)  (24,742)  (1,228)  (38,869)

Maturity of short-term investments  22,675  13,444  1,899  38,018  19,640  26,079  1,607  47,326 

Net change in non-cash balances (Note 10)  (2,782)  (106)  (78)  (2,966)  (5)  22  -    17 

    8,731  (605)  (483)  7,643  (5,934)  20  (430)  (6,344)

Cash flows from financing activities   

Proceeds from issue of redeemable shares  19,887  2,140  824  22,851  24,354  2,686  864  27,904 

Amounts paid on redemption of   
    redeemable shares  (18,627)  (81)  (17)  (18,725)  (16,209)  (68)  (10)  (16,287)

 1,260  2,059  807  4,126  8,145  2,618  854  11,617 

Net increase in cash  9,991  1,454  324  11,769  2,211  2,638  424  5,273 

Cash, beginning of year  21,566  3,390  1,759  26,715  31,046  4,302  1,788  37,136 

Cash, end of period  $ 31,557  $ 4,844  $ 2,083  $ 38,484  $ 33,257  $ 6,940  $ 2,212  $ 42,409 

Supplemental cash flow information

Interest received  $ 593  $ 49  $ 11  $ 653  $ 1,936  $ 93  $ 14  $ 2,043 

Dividends received  10  -    -    10  187  -    -    187 

Non-cash transactions (Note 5(a))

See accompanying notes.
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sCHeduLe oF InVestMent PortFoLIo – CLass a
(unaudIted) 
as at February 29, 2016
(in thousands of dollars except par value/number of units)

Short-term investments

Par Value/ 
Number Issuer and         
of Units Description of Security Maturity Date   Cost  Fair Value 

 Affinity Credit Union,    
1,400,000        1.10% term deposit March 7, 2016   $ 1,400 $ 1,400

 Affinity Credit Union,    
1,600,000        1.55% term deposit March 15, 2016   1,600  1,600

 Affinity Credit Union,    
1,000,000        1.33% term deposit March 15, 2016   1,000  1,000

 Affinity Credit Union,    
4,000,000        1.10% term deposit June 20, 2016   4,000  4,000

 Affinity Credit Union,    
1,000,000        1.33% term deposit July 10, 2016   1,000  1,000

 Affinity Credit Union,    
1,000,000        1.33% term deposit August 31, 2016   1,000  1,000

 Affinity Credit Union,    
3,300,000        1.15% term deposit February 28, 2017   3,300  3,300 
  

Short-term investments (5.12%)*   $ 13,300   $ 13,300 

Venture investments

Par Value/ 
Number Issuer and         
of Units Description of Security Maturity Date      Cost 

 10127441 Saskatchewan Ltd.   
4,214        common shares     $ -

 ADC Enterprises 4 Inc.,   
4,604        variable rate participating loan                  5 

 Avalon Oil & Gas Ltd.,   
5,720,700        class A common shares      5,721

 burgess Creek Exploration Inc.   
390,000        class A common shares      390 
910,000        special voting shares  

 Can Pro Capital Corp.,   
3,800        class A common shares      4 
3,329,838        0% debenture March 4, 2018     3,330

 Can Pro Ingredients Ltd.,   
19,117,629,955        class A common shares      7,257

 Connect Energy Holdings Ltd.,   
90        class A common shares      -

 Credence Resources Inc.,   
1        class A common share      - 
100,000        class B common shares      100
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sCHeduLe oF InVestMent PortFoLIo – CLass a
(unaudIted)
as at February 29, 2016
(in thousands of dollars except par value/number of units)

Venture investments (continued)

Par Value/ 
Number Issuer and         
of Units Description of Security Maturity Date      Cost

 Credence Resources Limited Partnership,   
1        series 2A limited partnership unit      - 
1        series 2B limited partnership unit      - 
1        series 4A limited partnership unit      - 
1        series 5A limited partnership unit      - 
1        series 5B limited partnership unit      - 
1        series 5D limited partnership unit      - 
1        series 6A limited partnership unit      - 
1        series 7A limited partnership unit      - 
14,633,169        variable rate participating loan      14,633

 Credence Resources II Inc.,   
1        class A common share      - 
100,000        class B common shares      100

 Credence Resources II Limited Partnership,   
1        series 2A limited partnership unit      - 
1        series 4A limited partnership unit      - 
1        series 5A limited partnership unit      - 
6,935,982        variable rate participating loan      6,936

 Crescent Point Energy Corp.,   
16,989        common shares      435

 Dyna Holdings GP Inc.,   
50        class A common shares      -

 Dyna Holdings LP,   
10,675,971        limited partnership units      10,737

 Field Exploration Inc.,   
1        class A common share      - 
100,000        class B common shares      100

 Field Exploration Limited Partnership,   
1        series 2A limited partnership unit      - 
1        series 2B limited partnership unit      - 
1        series 2C limited partnership unit      - 
1        series 3A limited partnership unit      - 
1        series 3B limited partnership unit      - 
10,036,730        variable rate participating loan      10,037

 FTI Consulting Canada Inc.,   
439,335      11% credit faciility      439

 G4 Energy Limited Partnership,   
2,000,000        class B units      314

 G5 Energy Limited Partnership,   
2,000,000        class B units      920

 GOF Care Homes Inc.,   
25,000        0% demand promissory note      25 
100        class A common shares      -
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sCHeduLe oF InVestMent PortFoLIo – CLass a
(unaudIted)
as at February 29, 2016
(in thousands of dollars except par value/number of units)

Venture investments (continued)

Par Value/ 
Number Issuer and         
of Units Description of Security Maturity Date      Cost

 Golden Health Care Inc.,   
441,751        class A common shares      442 
690,000        class E preferred shares      690 
2,785,000        class F preferred shares      2,785 
1,344,501        class G preferred shares      167 
3,155,499        class H preferred shares      1,356 
144,000        class I preferred shares      144 
1,056,000        class J preferred shares      1,056 
234        class K preferred shares      - 
3,697,200        class L preferred shares      3,697 
1,550,000        class N preferred shares      1,550 
4,788,000        class O preferred shares      4,788 
46        class P preferred shares      -

 H.J.R. Asphalt GP Inc.,   
32        class A common shares      -

 H.J.R. Asphalt LP,   
10,528,000        limited partnership units      10,265

 Jump.ca Wireless Supply Corp.,   
703,241        class B preferred shares      1,974

 Lex Energy Partners LP,   
5,338        limited partnership units      2,284

 Lex Energy Partners LP II,    
1,307        limited partnership units      967

 Lift Petroleum Inc.,   
1        class A common share      - 
100,000        class B common shares      100 
2,575,000        variable rate participating loan      2,575

 MATRRIx Energy Technologies Inc.,   
2,000,000        common shares      2,000

 Med-Life Discoveries GP Inc.,   
48        common shares      - 
47,702        0% demand promissory note      48

 Med-Life Discoveries LP,   
4,775,000        limited partnership units      4,775

          Millennium Stimulation Services Ltd.,   
1,490,000        class A common shares      1,930

 NorAmera Properties Inc.,   
446,250        class A common shares      721

 Performance Plants Inc.,   
4,508,118        common shares      4,518
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sCHeduLe oF InVestMent PortFoLIo – CLass a
(unaudIted)
as at February 29, 2016
(in thousands of dollars except par value/number of units)

Venture investments (continued)

Par Value/ 
Number Issuer and         
of Units Description of Security Maturity Date      Cost 

 Phenomenome Discoveries Inc.,    
91,158        class A common shares      2,141 
90,099        class B common shares      1,288 
613,696        11% demand debenture      614

 Prairie Meats Inc.,   
78        class A common shares      -

 Prairie Meats  LP,       
7,263,750        limited partnership units      7,661

 Prairie Plant Systems Inc.,   
830,199        class A common shares      5,117 
1,524        stock options, exercisable at $10.00 per share until October 31, 2018    - 
1,068        warrants, exercisable at $22.00 per share until December 15, 2018     - 
47,000        convertible debenture December 15, 2018     47

 Python Manufacturing Inc.,   
435,762        class A common shares      -

 Quality Wireline Services Ltd.,   
167,236        16.5% debenture October 1, 2016     167

 Rack Petroleum Ltd.,   
550,000        12% demand debenture      550

 Rite Way Mfg. Co. Ltd.,   
2,854,238        class A common shares      -

 Rite Way Real Estate Lending Corporation,   
866,255        15% demand debenture      866

 Safety Seven Manufacturing Inc.,   
20,000        class C preferred shares      200 
100,000        class A common shares      - 
459,149        non-interest bearing demand promissory note      459

 Solido Design Automation Inc.,   
7,105,903        class B convertible preferred shares      2,094 
1,437,436        class A convertible preferred shares      41 
1,395,827        class C convertible preferred shares      413

 Spartan Energy Corp.,    
152,500        common shares      542

 SuperiorFarms Solutions Limited Partnership,    
2,854,238        limited partnership units      6,449

 SuperiorRoads Solutions Limited Partnership,   
435,762        limited partnership units      -

 Terra Grain Fuels Inc.,    
5,056,417        12% debenture      5,056
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sCHeduLe oF InVestMent PortFoLIo – CLass a
(unaudIted)
as at February 29, 2016
(in thousands of dollars except par value/number of units)

Venture investments (continued)

Par Value/ 
Number Issuer and         
of Units Description of Security Maturity Date      Cost 

 Villanova 4 Oil Corp.,    
6,260,756        common shares      6,117

 Warman Home Centre Inc.,    
41        class A common shares      -

 Warman Home Centre LP,   
13,785,429        class A limited partnership units      21,178

 Western building Centres Limited,   
4,750,000        9.25% demand promissory note      4,750 
5,451,383        8.25% promissory note March 31, 2017     5,451 
7,462,285        class A common shares      47

 West Mountain Environmental Corp.,   
12,917,333        common shares      3,660 
150,000        stock options, exercisable at $0.24 per share        until September 14, 2016    - 
100,000        stock options, exercisable at $0.12 per share        until September 3, 2020    -

 WestMan Exploration Ltd.,    
800,000        common shares      800

Venture investments at cost (71.56%)*          $  186,023  
Unrealized appreciation of venture investments            45,014

 
Venture investments at fair value  (88.88%)*     $  231,037

*Percentages shown relate investments at fair value to total net assets attributable  
          to holders of redeemable  Class A shares.
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sCHeduLe oF InVestMent PortFoLIo – CLass a
(unaudIted)
as at February 29, 2016
(in thousands of dollars except par value/number of units)

Venture portfolio breakdown

Industry sector Number of  
Investees

Cost Fair Value % of Cost % of Fair 
Value

Oil & gas 20 $  57,169 $  52,566 30.72% 22.76%

Services 5 39,086 50,408 21.01% 21.82%

Biotechnology 6 18,986 33,483 10.21% 14.49%

Value added manufacturing 10 29,302 28,973 15.75% 12.54%

Healthcare 2 16,700 22,318 8.98% 9.66%

Renewable energy 1 5,057 15,251 2.72% 6.60%

Technology 2 4,522 12,129 2.43% 5.25%

Infrastructure 2 10,265 10,528 5.52% 4.56%

Energy services 1 - 3,266 - 1.41%

Environmental 1 3,660 840 1.97% 0.36%

Real estate 1 721 721 0.39% 0.31%

Agriculture 2 555 554 0.30% 0.24%

53 $ 186,023 $ 231,037 100.00% 100.00%

Stage of development Number of  
Investees

Cost Fair Value % of Cost % of Fair 
Value

Start-up 11 $ 38,813 $ 54,816 20.86% 23.73%

Growth 27 103,245 128,898 55.51% 55.79%

Mature 15 43,965 47,323 23.63% 20.48%

53 $ 186,023 $ 231,037 100.00% 100.00%

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 

 31

 
G

ol
de

n 
O

pp
or

tu
ni

tie
s F

un
d 

In
c.

  | 
 2

01
6 

se
m

i-a
nn

ua
l r

ep
or

t



sCHeduLe oF InVestMent PortFoLIo – CLass I
(unaudIted) 
as at February 29, 2016
(in thousands of dollars except par value/number of units)

Short-term investments

Par Value/ 
Number Issuer and         
of Units Description of Security Maturity Date   Cost  Fair Value 

 Toronto Dominion bank,    
594,149        0.77% bankers acceptance March 15, 2016   $      594 $ 594

 Canadian Imperial bank of Commerce,    
2,086,498        0.77% bankers acceptance March 16, 2016   2,083  2,083

 Manulife bank of Canada,    
2,035,000        0.81% bankers discount note April 4, 2016   2,031  2,031

 Royal bank of Canada,    
2,150,000        0.77% bankers acceptance April 6, 2016   2,146  2,146

 Affinity Credit Union,    
1,100,000        1.80% term deposit April 29, 2016   1,100  1,100

 National bank of Canada    
1,960,000        0.78% bankers acceptance May 31, 2016   1,956  1,956

 Toronto Dominion bank,    
1,190,000        0.78% term deposit May 31, 2016   1,188  1,188

 Affinity Credit Union,    
200,000        1.33% term deposit December 4, 2016   200  200

 Affinity Credit Union,    
150,000        1.54% term deposit December 23, 2016  150  150

 Affinity Credit Union,    
250,000        1.15% term deposit February 28, 2017   250  250

 Affinity Credit Union,    
543,350       1.60% term deposit February 28, 2017   543  543  

Short-term investments (51.74%)**     $     12,241     $    12,241 

Venture investments

Par Value/ 
Number Issuer and         
of Units Description of Security Maturity Date      Cost 

 Dyna Holdings LP,   
1,903,805        limited partnership units      $ 1,915 

 FTI Consulting Canada Inc.   
210,665        11% credit facility      211

 MATRRIx Energy Technologies Inc.,   
400,000        common shares       400

 Med-Life Discoveries GP Inc.,    
2        class A common shares      - 
2,248        0% demand promissory note      2
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sCHeduLe oF InVestMent PortFoLIo – CLass I
(unaudIted)
as at February 29, 2016
(in thousands of dollars except par value/number of units)

Venture investments (continued)

Par Value/ 
Number Issuer and         
of Units Description of Security Maturity Date       Cost 

 Med-Life Discoveries LP,   
225,000        limited partnership units       225

 Phenomenome Discoveries Inc.,   
270,000        11% demand debenture        295 
2,286        class A common shares       160

 Prairie Plant Systems Inc.,   
90,833        class A common shares         927 
267        stock options, exercisable at $10.00 per share until October 31, 2018    - 
6,204        warrants, exercisable at $22.00 per share until December 15, 2018     - 
273,000        10% convertible debenture December 15, 2018     273

 Python Manufacturing Inc.,   
74,172        common shares       -

 Rite Way Mfg. Co. Ltd.,   
485,828        common shares       -

 Rite Way Real Estate Lending Corporation,  
120,075        15% demand debenture         120

 Solido Design Automation Inc.,   
2,142,534        class C preferred shares         684 
639,139        class B preferred shares       30 
458,476        class A preferred shares       13

 SuperiorFarms Solutions Limited Partnership,  
485,828        limited partnership units       1,102

 SuperiorRoads Solutions Limited Partnership,  
74,172        limited partnership units       -

 yolbolsum Canada Inc.,    
1,014,362        36% demand debenture       1,014

Venture investments at cost (31.15%)**          $  7,371   
Unrealized appreciation of venture investments             2,141 

 
Venture investments at fair value (40.2%)**     $   9,512 
**Percentages shown relate amounts to total net assets attributable  
    to holders of redeemable Class I shares.
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sCHeduLe oF InVestMent PortFoLIo – CLass I
(unaudIted)
as at February 29, 2016
(in thousands of dollars except par value/number of units)

Venture portfolio breakdown

Industry sector Number of  
Investees

Cost Fair Value % of Cost % of Fair 
Value

Biotechnology 6 $  3,106 $  4,206 42.15% 44.22%

Value added manufacturing 6 3,138 3,130 42.56% 32.91%

Technology 1 727 2,132 9.86% 22.41%

Oil & gas 1 400 44 5.43% 0.46%

14 $  7,371 $  9,512 100.00% 100.00%

Stage of development Number of  
Investees

Cost Fair Value % of Cost % of Fair 
Value

Start-up 3 $ 954 $ 2,674 12.94% 28.11%

Growth 10 4,502 4,877 61.08% 51.27%

Mature 1 1,915 1,961 25.98% 20.62%

14 $ 7,371 $ 9,512 100.00% 100.00%

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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sCHeduLe oF InVestMent PortFoLIo – CLass r
(unaudIted) 
as at February 29, 2016
(in thousands of dollars except par value/number of units)

Short-term investments

Par Value/ 
Number Issuer and         
of Units Description of Security Maturity Date   Cost  Fair Value 

 Affinity Credit Union,    
190,000        1.250% term deposit March 7, 2016  $ 190 $ 190

 Canadian Imperial bank of Commerce,    
300,000        0.77% bankers acceptance March 16, 2016   300  300

 Royal bank of Canada,    
700,000        0.77% bankers acceptance April 6, 2016   699  699

 Toronto Dominion bank,    
460,000        0.78% bankers acceptance May 31, 2016   459  459

 National bank of Canada,    
740,000        0.78% bankers acceptance May 31, 2016   738  738

 Affinity Credit Union,    
210,000        1.33% term deposit December 4, 2016 210  210  210

 Affinity Credit Union,    
200,000        1.15% term deposit February 28, 2017   200  200

 Affinity Credit Union,    
110,000        1.60% term deposit February 28, 2017   110  110

Short-term investments (37.82%)***     $     2,906        $   2,906 

Venture investments

Par Value/ 
Number Issuer and         
of Units Description of Security Maturity Date      Cost 

 Avalon Oil & Gas Ltd.,   
279,300        class A common shares     $  279

 burgess Creek Exploration Inc.,  
210,000        class A common shares      210 
490,000        special voting shares      -

 Credence Resources Limited Partnership,  
1        series 5C limited partnership unit      - 
1        series 5E limited partnership unit      - 
479,862        variable rate participating loan       480

 Credence Resources II Limited Partnership,  
1        series 3A limited partnership unit      - 
1        series 2B limited partnership unit      - 
1        series 4B limited partnership unit      - 
1        series 5B limited partnership unit      - 
668,501        variable rate participating loan       668
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Venture portfolio breakdown (1)

Stage of development Number of  
Investees

Cost Fair Value % of Cost % of Fair 
Value

Start-up 5 $ 1,784 $ 1,791 65.38% 65.83%

Growth 3 945 930 34.62% 34.17%

8 $ 2,729 $ 2,721 100.00% 100.00%

sCHeduLe oF InVestMent PortFoLIo – CLass r
(unaudIted)
as at February 29, 2016
(in thousands of dollars except par value/number of units)

Venture investments (continued)

Par Value/ 
Number Issuer and         
of Units Description of Security Maturity Date       Cost 

 Field Exploration Limited Partnership,   
1        series 2D limited partnership unit       - 
1        series 3C limited partnership unit       - 
356,853        variable rate participating loan         357

 Lex Energy Partners LP,   
400        limited partnership units        136

 Millennium Stimulation Services Ltd.,   
135,000        class A common shares        270

 Villanova 4 Oil Corp.,   
324,244        class A common shares        329

Venture investments at cost (35.52%)***      $  2,729    
Unrealized depreciation of venture investments             (8)  

 
Venture investments at fair value (35.41%)***     $   2,721   
***Percentages shown relate amounts to total net assets attributable  
       to holders of redeemable Class R shares.

(1)  All Class R venture investments are in the oil and gas sector.

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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Notes to the Interim Financial Statements 
(unaudited)
February 29, 2016 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars except number of shares and per share amounts)

1. General information
Golden Opportunities Fund Inc. (the “Fund”) was incorporated under the laws of Saskatchewan by Articles of Incorporation dated December 8, 
1997. The Fund was registered as an extra-provincial corporation to carry on business under the laws of Manitoba on September 30, 2008.  The 
principal place of business of the Fund is Suite 830, 410 - 22nd Street East, Saskatoon, Saskatchewan. 

The Fund is registered as a labour-sponsored venture capital corporation under The Labour-sponsored Venture Capital Corporations Act 
(Saskatchewan) (the “Saskatchewan Act”) and The Labour-Sponsored Venture Capital Corporations Act (Manitoba) (the “Manitoba Act”).  The Fund 
is taxable as a mutual fund corporation and is a prescribed Labour sponsored Venture Capital Corporation under the Income Tax Act (Canada) 
(the “Federal Act”).  

On January 13, 2016, the Fund amended its articles to allow for the creation of multiple series of shares and to create a series of shares to be 
referenced collectively as the “F Series” and to be designated as Class A-F (SK) shares, Class A-F (MB) shares, Class I-F (SK) shares, Class I-F (MB) 
shares, Class R-F (SK) shares and Class R-F (MB) shares.

Following the amendments, the Fund’s redeemable shares include Class A (SK) shares, Class A-F (SK) shares, Class A (MB) shares, Class A-F (MB) 
shares, Class I (SK) shares, Class I-F (SK) shares, Class I (MB) shares, Class I-F (MB) shares, Class R (SK) shares, and Class R-F (SK) shares which are 
issued and redeemed at a continuous offering price equal to the pricing net asset value (“Pricing NAV”) per share for the applicable series.  The 
Fund also has Class R (MB) shares and Class R-F (MB) shares, which have not yet been made available for issue.

The F Series have, in all material respects, the same rights, redemption features, tax credit eligibility and attributes as the Class A Shares, Class 
I Shares and Class R Shares, except that the F Series has a different commission structure. The F Series have no commissions, trailer fees or 
deferred sales charges (early redemption fee).

The Federal Act and the Saskatchewan Act allow a Saskatchewan resident individual to invest in Class A (SK) shares, Class A-F (SK) shares, Class 
I (SK) shares, Class I-F (SK) shares, Class R (SK) shares, or Class R-F (SK) shares of the Fund and obtain a personal income tax credit.  The Federal 
Act and the Manitoba Act allow a Manitoba resident individual to invest in Class A (MB) shares, Class A-F (MB) shares, Class I (MB) shares, or 
Class I-F (MB) shares of the Fund and obtain a personal income tax credit.  

The Fund’s Class A Shares include the Class A (SK) shares, the Class A-F (SK) shares, the Class A (MB) shares, and the Class A-F (MB) shares; the 
Fund’s Class I Shares include the Class I (SK) shares, the Class I-F (SK) shares, the Class I (MB) shares, and the Class I-F (MB) shares; and the Fund’s 
Class R Shares include the Class R (SK) shares, the Class R-F (SK) shares, the Class R (MB) shares, and the Class R-F (MB) shares.  The separation 
of shares by province is for legal purposes only but does not affect the net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares as each class of 
share has the same rights regardless of the province they are issued in.

The investment objective of the Fund is to maximize shareholder returns through the long-term appreciation of the Fund’s Pricing NAV. The 
Fund makes investments in small and medium sized eligible Saskatchewan businesses and Manitoba business entities, as defined in the 
Saskatchewan Act and the Manitoba Act, respectively, with the objective of achieving long term capital appreciation.  The Fund invests the 
proceeds raised from the issue of the Class I shares in innovation companies and the proceeds raised from the issue of the Class R shares in 
resource companies, rather than a broad cross-section of the economy as is the case with the proceeds from the issue of the Class A shares.  

The Fund has retained Westcap Mgt. Ltd., a related party, as the fund manager (the “Manager”) to manage all aspects of the Fund. The sponsor 
of the Fund is the Construction and General Workers’ Union Local 180.

2. Basis of presentation
These interim financial statements are based on International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board and have been prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standard 34, “Interim Financial Reporting”.  The interim 
financial statements may not include all of the disclosures that will be required in the Fund’s annual financial statements.  

The interim financial statements were approved by the Fund’s Board of Directors on April 11, 2016, and have been prepared on a going 
concern basis using the historic cost convention.  However, the Fund is an investment entity and primarily all financial assets and financial 
liabilities are measured at fair value in accordance with IFRS.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies
a)    Financial instruments

The Fund recognizes financial instruments at fair value upon initial recognition, plus transaction costs in the case of financial instruments 
measured at amortized cost.  Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized at their trade date.  The Fund’s cash, short-
term investments, and venture investments are measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), including certain investments which 
have been designated at FVTPL.  The Fund’s obligation for net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares is presented at the 
redemption amount.  All other financial assets and liabilities are measured at amortized cost.  Under this method, financial assets and liabilities 
reflect the amount required to be received or paid, discounted, when appropriate, at the contract’s effective interest rate.  

Interest income for distribution purposes is recognized on an accrual basis using the stated rates of interest for short-term investments and 
debt instruments.  Dividends are recognized as income on the ex-dividend date, and operating income from partnerships is recognized as 
earned.  Investment transactions are accounted for on the trade date and realized gains or losses arising from the sale of investments are 
determined using the average cost method. 

b)   Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants 
at the measurement date.  

The fair value of financial assets traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the close of trading on the reporting date.  The 
Fund uses the last traded market price for financial assets where the last traded price falls within that day’s bid-ask spread.  In circumstances 
where the last traded price is not within the bid-ask spread, or where no sales in a particular security have been transacted on the reporting 
date, the Manager determines the point within the bid-ask spread that is most representative of fair value based on specific facts and 
circumstances.  The Fund’s policy is to recognize transfers into and out of the fair value hierarchy levels as of the date of the event or change in 
circumstances giving rise to the transfer.

The fair value of financial assets that are not traded in an active market is determined using valuation techniques.  The Fund uses a variety of 
methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at each valuation date.  Valuation techniques include the use of 
comparable recent arm’s length transactions, independent valuations and others commonly used by market participants and which make the 
maximum use of observable inputs.  Details regarding the valuation process of the Fund’s investments in eligible businesses are included the 
Fund’s annual prospectus.  Refer to Note 12 for further information about the Fund’s fair value measurements and additional details regarding 
the valuation process for the Fund’s investments in eligible businesses.

c)   Cash

Cash is comprised of deposits with financial institutions.

d)    Increase in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares per share

The increase in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares from operations per share is calculated by dividing the increase in 
net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares from operations by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the 
period.

e)    Investments in associates and subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities, including investments in other investment entities, over which the Fund has control.  The Fund controls an entity 
when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through 
its power over the entity.  The Fund has determined that it is an investment entity and as such, it accounts for subsidiaries at fair value with the 
exception of any subsidiaries which provide services related to the Fund’s investment activities, which are consolidated.  The Fund currently 
does not have any subsidiaries that are consolidated.  Associates are investments over which the Fund has significant influence or joint control, 
all of which have been designated at FVTPL.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
e)    Investments in associates and subsidiaries (continued)

Information about the Fund’s interests in unconsolidated subsidiaries and associates are as follows: 

February 29, 2016 August 31, 2015

Investee Relationship
Ownership 

interest
Voting 

interest
Ownership 

interest
Voting 

interest

Can Pro Capital Corp. Subsidiary 100% 100% 100% 100%

Can Pro Ingredients Ltd. Subsidiary 82% 82% 82% 82%

Connect Energy Holdings Ltd. Subsidiary 90% 90% 90% 90%

Credence Resources Inc. Associate 50% 50% 50% 50%

Credence Resources LP Associate 100% 50% 100% 50%

Credence Resources II Inc. Associate 50% 50% 50% 50%

Credence Resources II LP Associate 100% 50% 100% 50%

Dyna Holdings GP Inc. Associate 50% 50% 50% 50%

Dyna Holdings LP Associate 50% 50% 50% 50%

Field Exploration Inc. Associate 50% 50% 50% 50%

Field Exploration LP Associate 100% 50% 100% 50%

GOF Care Homes Inc. Subsidiary 100% 100% 100% 100%

Golden Healthcare Inc. Associate 50% 50% 50% 50%

H.J.R. Asphalt GP Inc. Associate 32% 32% - -

H.J.R. Asphalt LP Associate 32% 32% - -

Lift Petroleum Inc. Associate 50% 50% 50% 50%

Med-Life Discoveries GP Inc. Associate 50% 50% 50% 50%

Med-Life Discoveries LP Associate 50% 50% 50% 50%

NorAmera Bioenergy Corporation Associate - - 37% 37%

NorAmera Properties Inc. Associate 25% 25% 25% 25%

NorAmera Technologies Inc. Associate - - 42% 42%

Prairie Meats GP Inc. Subsidiary 78% 78% 78% 78%

Prairie Meats LP Subsidiary 78% 78% 78% 78%

Prairie Plant Systems Inc. Associate 25% 25% 25% 25%

Python Manufacturing Inc. Associate 50% 50% 50% 50%

Rite Way Mfg. Co. Ltd. Associate 50% 50% 50% 50%

Solido Design Automation Inc. Associate 24% 24% 24% 24%

SuperiorFarms Solutions LP Associate 50% 50% 50% 50%

SuperiorRoads Solutions LP Associate 50% 50% 50% 50%

Terra Grain Fuels Inc. Associate 42% 42% 42% 42%

Warman Home Centre Inc. Associate 41% 41% 41% 41%

Warman Home Centre LP Associate 40% 41% 40% 41%

West Mountain Environmental Corp. Associate 24% 24% 24% 24%

Western Building Centres Ltd. Subsidiary 71% 71% 71% 71%

All investee companies have Canada as their principal place of business and country of incorporation.  Certain investee companies for 
which there is a senior lender may have restrictions on dividends and loan repayments imposed on it if the investee company is not 
within covenants imposed on it by its senior lender.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
f)    Income and expense allocation

The subscription proceeds raised through the issue of each class of shares is invested separately from the proceeds raised from the issue of the 
other classes of shares.  Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares, and corresponding Pricing NAVs, are calculated for the Fund’s 
Class A, Class A-F, Class I, Class I-F, Class R and Class R-F shares, respectively, and are reflected separately in these financial statements.  Income 
or losses attributable to a specific venture investment will only be reflected in either Class A Shares, Class I Shares or Class R Shares net assets 
attributable to holders of redeemable shares, as applicable.  

Costs and expenses not specifically identifiable to any redeemable shares are allocated, at the time the costs and expenses are incurred, on 
the basis of the relative share capital of each type of share as a proportion of the total share capital of the Fund as at the latest available weekly 
pricing net asset valuation.

g)  Commissions

Trailer commissions and percentage based payments are recorded on an accrual basis based on net assets attributable to holders of Class A 
(SK) shares, Class A (MB) shares, Class I (SK) shares, Class I (MB) shares, and Class R (SK) shares. For greater certainty, no trailer commissions or 
percentage based payments are payable on the F Series. 

h)   Accounting standards issued but not yet adopted

IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments” was issued by the IASB on November 12, 2009 and will replace IAS 39, “Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement”.  IFRS 9 uses a single approach to determine whether a financial asset is measured at amortized cost or fair value, replacing 
the multiple rules in IAS 39.  Under IFRS 9, financial assets will generally be measured initially at fair value plus particular transaction costs, and 
subsequently at either amortized cost or fair value.  In October 2010, the IASB issued additions to IFRS 9 relating to accounting for financial 
liabilities.  Under the new requirements, an entity choosing to measure a financial liability at fair value will present the portion of any change in 
its fair value due to changes in the entity’s credit risk in other comprehensive income, rather than within net earnings. This standard is effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted, and is to be applied prospectively.  The Fund does not 
intend to early adopt this standard but is reviewing it to determine the potential impact, if any, on the financial statements.

4. Critical accounting estimates and judgments
The preparation of financial statements requires management to use judgment in applying its accounting policies and to make estimates and 
assumptions about the future.  The following discusses the most significant accounting judgments and estimates that the Fund has made in 
preparing the financial statements:

a)   Qualification as an investment entity

The Fund has determined that it meets the definition of ‘investment entity’ and as a result, it measures subsidiaries, other than those which 
provide services to the Fund, at FVTPL.  Subsidiaries which provide services to the Fund are consolidated, however the Fund currently does not 
have any subsidiaries that are consolidated.  An investment entity is an entity that: obtains funds from one or more investors for the purpose of 
providing them with investment management services, commits to its investors that its business purpose is to invest funds solely for returns 
from capital appreciation, investment income, or both, and measures and evaluates the performance for substantially all of its investments on 
a fair value basis.  The most significant judgment that the Fund has made in determining that it meets this definition is that fair value is used as 
the primary measurement attribute to measure and evaluate the performance of substantially all of its investments.

b)   Fair value measurement of securities not quoted in an active market

The Fund holds financial instruments that are not quoted in active markets.  The methods used to determine the fair values of such 
instruments incorporate various assumptions that are based on market conditions and for which observable inputs are not generally available.  
Significant areas requiring the use of estimates include assessments of the financial condition of investees that might indicate a change in 
value of a particular investment.  Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments.  
Refer to Note 12 for further information about the Fund’s fair value measurements.
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5. Venture investments
During the year, venture investments changed as follows:

a)   Class A   

2016 2015

Venture investments at fair value, beginning $  244,270 $  199,574

Venture investments purchased 20,245 24,923

Partnership income recognized 9,772 8,103

Partnership distributions received (8,600) (2,192)

Venture investments repaid (3,167) (4,728)

Proceeds from disposition of venture investments (17,600) (8,423)

Net realized (losses) gains on disposition of venture investments (5,883) 5,820

Decrease in unrealized appreciation of venture investments (8,000) (17,533)

Venture investments at fair value, ending $  231,037 $  205,544

The Fund may at times receive non-cash consideration, such as shares in a publicly traded company, in the normal course of purchases and 
dispositions of venture investments.  During the period ended February 29, 2016, the Fund made non-cash purchases of Class A venture 
investments of $8,789 (2015 - $nil) and received non-cash proceeds of $8,789 (2015 - $nil) on disposition of Class A venture investments.

b)   Class I   

2016 2015

Venture investments at fair value, beginning $ 8,577 $ 5,564

Venture investments purchased 522 1,202

Partnership income recognized 364 207

Partnership distributions received (189) -

Venture investments repaid (11) -

Increase (decrease) in unrealized appreciation of venture investments 249 (160)

Venture investments at fair value, ending $ 9,512 $ 6,813

c)   Class R   

2016 2015

Venture investments at fair value, beginning $  3,878 $ 2,366

Venture investments purchased 923 779

Venture investments repaid - (76)

Proceeds from disposition of venture investments (1,427) (10)

Net realized gains on disposition of venture investments 414 10

(Decrease) increase in unrealized appreciation of venture investments (1,067) 27

Venture investments at fair value, ending $  2,721 $  3,096

During the period ended February 29, 2016, the Fund made non-cash purchases of Class R venture investments of $713 (2015 - $nil) and 
received non-cash proceeds of $713 (2015 - $nil) on disposition of Class R venture investments.
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6. Loss support program contributions and advances
The Fund has a loss support agreement with Western Economic Diversification Canada for investment transactions made in respect of the 
Class I shares.  The agreement provides loss support at a rate of 50% of funds invested to be used to offset up to 80% of any realized loss in 
the portfolio.  As at February 29, 2016, the Fund has received loss support program contributions and advances of $3,306 (August 31, 2015 - 
$3,306).  There is an unrealized loss of $358 reflected within the Class I venture investments at February 29, 2016 (August 31, 2015 - $312) such 
that the amount of the loss support program contributions considered repayable to Western Economic Diversification Canada have been 
reduced by 80% of this unrealized loss or $286 (August 31, 2015 - $250) as per the terms of the program.  Details of the loss support program 
are contained in the Fund’s prospectus.

7. Redeemable shares
The Fund’s redeemable shares are issuable at the applicable Pricing NAV to eligible investors and certain registered retirement savings plans 
(“RRSPs”), and are subject to restrictions on transfer and redemption in accordance with legislation governing labour sponsored venture 
capital corporations and the Fund’s articles.  Collectively, the shares are voting, entitled to elect a minority of the Directors of the Fund, entitled 
to receive dividends at the discretion of the Board of Directors and may be transferred to certain registered retirement income funds (“RRIFs”).  
Under certain circumstances, the shares are redeemable at the Pricing NAV less any redemption fee. 

The Fund also has 10 Class B shares outstanding, which were issued to the Fund’s sponsor for a nominal amount.  The Class B shares are non 
participating, voting and entitled to elect a simple majority of the Board of Directors of the Fund.  The shares are redeemable at the option of 
the Fund at the subscription price.  There were no transactions affecting the Fund’s Class B shares during the six months ended February 29, 
2016 or February 28, 2015.

During the six months ended February 29, 2016 and February 28, 2015, the number of shares issued, redeemed and outstanding was as 
follows:

a)   Class A

Six months ended 
February 29, 2016

Six months ended 
February 28, 2015

Class A (SK) shares

 Beginning of period 16,775,014 15,979,942

 Shares issued 1,546,959 2,350,662

 Shares redeemed (1,307,905) (1,594,528)

 End of period 17,014,068 16,736,076

Class A (MB) shares

 Beginning of period 404,555 377,880

 Shares issued 19,825 22,722

 Shares redeemed (506) (1,801)

 End of period 423,874 398,801

17,437,942 17,134,877

b)   Class A-F

Six months ended 
February 29, 2016

Six months ended 
February 28, 2015

Class A-F (SK) shares

 Beginning of period - -

 Shares issued 9,968 -

 Shares redeemed - -

 End of period 9,968 -

There were no Class A-F (MB) shares issued in the six months ended February 29, 2016.
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7. Redeemable shares (continued)

c)   Class I

Six months ended 
February 29, 2016

Six months ended 
February 28, 2015

Class I (SK) shares

 Beginning of year 1,920,685 1,561,374

 Shares issued 240,317 284,232

 Shares redeemed (7,348) (7,281)

 End of year 2,153,654 1,838,325

Class I (MB) shares

 Beginning of year 34,903 25,759

 Shares issued 5,337 6,289

 Shares redeemed - -

 End of year 40,240 32,048

2,193,894 1,870,373

d) Class I-F

Six months ended 
February 29, 2016

Six months ended 
February 28, 2015

Class I-F (SK) shares

 Beginning of period - -

 Shares issued 20 -

 Shares redeemed - -

 End of period 20 -

  

There were no Class I-F (MB) shares issued in the six months ended February 29, 2016.

e) Class R

Six months ended 
February 29, 2016

Six months ended 
February 28, 2015

Class R (SK) shares

 Beginning of year 702,193 539,534

 Shares issued 106,335 108,689

 Shares redeemed (1,136) (961)

 End of year 807,392 647,262

f) Class R-F

Six months ended 
February 29, 2016

Six months ended 
February 28, 2015

Class R-F (SK) shares

 Beginning of period - -

 Shares issued 22 -

 Shares redeemed - -

 End of period 22 -
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8. Reconciliation of net asset values
The Fund’s accounting policy is to measure the fair value of publicly traded securities using the last traded market price, provided that 
the last traded price falls within that day’s bid-ask spread.  In circumstances where the last traded price is not within the bid-ask spread, or 
where no sales in a particular security have been transacted on the reporting date, the Manager determines the point within the bid-ask 
spread that is most representative of fair value based on specific facts and circumstances.  

For the determination of the Fund’s Pricing NAV, the value of publicly traded securities is determined on the basis of the previous day’s 
closing price, or, if no sales of a particular security have been transacted on that date, then on the basis of that day’s closing bid price, or, if 
there is no closing bid price, then on the basis of the most recent closing price.  

As a result, there may be a difference between the Pricing NAV and the net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares as shown 
on the statement of financial position.  

There was no difference between the Pricing NAV per share and the net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares per share for 
the Class A, Class A-F, Class I, Class I-F, Class R, or Class R-F shares at February 29, 2016 or August 31, 2015.  

9. Fees and expenses
a)   Management expenses

In consideration of the performance by the Manager of its duties, the Manager receives an annual management fee equal to 2.5% of 
the aggregate Pricing NAV for each of the Class A, Class I and Class R shares.  The management fee is calculated and payable monthly in 
arrears based on the Pricing NAVs as at each weekly valuation date.  The Manager does not begin to earn the management fee on the F 
Series shares until the Fund has reached $5,000 in gross F Series subscriptions, at which time the entire amount of the management fees 
would be earned and payable. 

The Manager currently acts as manager of the Fund’s liquid portfolio, which includes cash and short-term investments.  The Fund is 
responsible for any fees and expenses paid to any third party for liquid portfolio management services should the Manager no longer 
provide these services to the Fund.

b)   Percentage based payments

The Fund has engaged an arm’s length party (the “Party”) to pay sales commissions on the sale of its shares, excluding the F Series, for 
which no sales commissions are payable.  As remuneration for managing the payment of the commissions, the Fund has agreed to pay 
an annual percentage based payment to the Party of 0.95% of the gross proceeds (net of redemptions) raised in any calendar year on the 
sale of Class A (SK), Class A (MB), Class I (SK), Class I (MB), or Class R (SK) shares over eight consecutive years.

c)   Trailing commissions

An annual service fee equal to 0.5% of the aggregate Pricing NAV of the Class A (SK), Class A (MB), Class I (SK), Class I (MB) and Class R (SK) 
shares, is paid quarterly to selling agents of the Fund.  No trailing commissions are paid in respect of the F Series.

d)   Administration fees

Pursuant to a transfer agency agreement, the Fund has retained Prometa Fund Support Services Inc. to provide certain services to the 
Fund, including processing of sales orders and maintaining shareholder records.  The Fund has retained Concentra Trust as the Fund’s 
Custodian and Bare Trustee. 

 e)   Marketing service fees

As remuneration for distribution services being provided by the principal distributor of the Fund (the “Agent”), the Fund has agreed to 
pay the Agent an aggregate annual marketing service fee (“marketing service fee”) of 1.25% on the first $10,000 of gross proceeds, 1.00% 
on the next $10,000 of gross proceeds, and 0.75% of any additional gross proceeds. The Agent does not begin to earn the marketing 
service fee on the F Series shares until the Fund has reached $5,000 in gross F Series subscriptions, at which time the entire amount of the 
marketing service fees would be earned and payable. 

f)   Incentive participation amount

The Manager is entitled to an incentive participation amount (“IPA”) equal to 20% of any return derived from an eligible investment of the 
Fund (excluding the first 10% of interest and dividend income earned and any commitment or work fees paid to the Fund in connection 
with the investment) in any fiscal year provided that:  (i) on a Class by Class basis, the Fund has earned sufficient income to generate a rate of 
return on all venture investments which is greater than the five year average guaranteed investment certificate rate of Concentra Financial 
plus 1.5% on an annualized basis; (ii) has earned sufficient income from the particular investment to provide a cumulative investment 
return at an average annual rate in excess of 10% since investment; and, (iii) has recouped an amount from the venture investment, through 
income earned, liquidation of the investment, or otherwise, equal to all the principal invested in the particular venture investment.  During 
the six months ended February 29, 2016, an IPA in respect of the Class A shares was paid or payable to the Manager in the amount of $1,069 
(2015 - $nil) on realized gains on the disposition of venture investments. On an annualized basis, the IPA was 0.82% (2015 – nil) expressed as 
a percentage of average net asset value for Class A shares for the period.  During the six months ended February 29, 2016, an IPA in respect 
of the Class R shares was paid or payable to the Manager in the amount of $87 (2015 - $nil) on realized gains on the disposition of venture 
investments. On an annualized basis, the IPA was 2.37% (2015 – nil) expressed as a percentage of average net asset value for Class R shares for 
the period.  There was no IPA paid or payable in respect of  Class I shares for the period or comparative period.    
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9. Fees and expenses (continued)

f)   Incentive participation amount (continued)

An estimated contingent IPA in respect of the Class A shares of $19,966 has been reflected in the financial statements in respect of 
unrealized gains and excess returns as at February 29, 2016  (August 31, 2015 - $21,698).  

As at February 29, 2016, an estimated contingent IPA in respect of the Class I shares of $782 (August 31, 2015 - $607) has been reflected in 
the financial statements in respect of unrealized gains and excess returns.  

An estimated contingent IPA in respect of the Class R shares of $74 has been reflected in the financial statements in respect of unrealized 
gains and excess returns as at February 29, 2016 (August 31, 2015 - $259).  

g)   Direct expenses

The Fund pays all direct costs and expenses incurred in the operation of the Fund, such as directors’ fees, custodian fees, insurance, legal, 
audit, and valuation expenses.  

h)   Management expense ratio

The annualized management expense ratio (“MER”) includes the IPA, contingent IPA and all other fees and expenses paid or payable 
(excluding any brokerage fees on the purchase and sale of portfolio securities) expressed as a percentage of average Pricing NAV.  For 
the six months ended February 29, 2016 and February 28, 2015, the MER for each share, along with the impact of excluding the IPA, 
contingent IPA and expenses waived or recovered, is as follows:

Six months ended  
February 29, 2016

Six months ended 
February 28, 2015

 Class A   
   MER  4.27% 5.55% 
   MER – excluding IPA and contingent IPA  4.81% 4.97% 

 Class A-F  

   MER  3.39 % - 
   MER – excluding IPA and contingent IPA  3.39 % -

 Class I  

   MER  6.84% 5.66% 
   MER – excluding IPA and contingent IPA  5.19% 5.02%

 Class I-F  

   MER  2.07 % - 
   MER – excluding IPA and contingent IPA  2.07 % -

 Class R  

   MER  2.86% 4.80% 
   MER – excluding IPA and contingent IPA  5.56% 5.28% 

 Class R-F  

   MER  2.23 % - 
   MER – excluding IPA and contingent IPA  2.23 % -
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10. Net change in non-cash balances

Six months ended  
February 29, 2016

Six months ended 
February 28, 2015

a)   Class A      
Increase in interest and other receivables $ (1,143) $ (1,322) 
Decrease in funds held in trust  -  986 
Decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities  (976)  (213) 
Increase in IPA payable  1,069  - 
(Decrease) increase in contingent IPA  (1,732)  544

   $ (2,782) $ (5)

Six months ended  
February 29, 2016

Six months ended 
February 28, 2015

b)   Class I      
Increase in interest and other receivables $ (324) $ (103) 
Decrease in funds held in trust  -  187 
Increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities  79  40 
Decrease in loss support program contributions and advances  (36)  (158) 
Increase in contingent IPA  175  56

   $ (106) $ 22

Six months ended  
February 29, 2016

Six months ended 
February 28, 2015

c)   Class R 
Increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 20 $ 16 
Increase in IPA payable  87  - 
Increase in contingent IPA  (185)  (16)

   $ (78) $ -

11. Financial instruments by category
The following tables present the carrying amounts of the Fund’s financial assets by category as at February 29, 2016 and August 
31, 2015.  All of the Fund’s financial liabilities, other than its net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares, were carried at 
amortized cost as at the end of each respective period.

a)   Class A

Category February 29,  
2016

August 31, 
2015

Cash FVTPL $ 31,557 $ 21,566

Short-term investments FVTPL 13,300 19,799

Subscriptions receivable Amortized cost 3,939 102

Interest and other receivables Amortized cost 3,880 2,737

Venture investments FVTPL 231,037 244,270

$ 283,713 $ 288,474
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11. Financial instruments by category (continued)

b) Class I

Category February 29,  
2016

August 31, 
2015

Cash FVTPL $ 4,844 $ 3,390

Short-term investments FVTPL 12,241 12,396

Subscriptions receivable Amortized cost 492 10

Interest and other receivables Amortized cost 671 347

Venture investments FVTPL 9,512 8,577

$ 27,760 $ 24,720

c) Class R

Category February 29,  
2016

August 31, 
2015

Cash FVTPL $ 2,083 $ 1,759

Short-term investments FVTPL 2,906 2,088

Subscriptions receivable Amortized cost 226 10

Interest and other receivables Amortized cost 4 4

Venture investments FVTPL 2,721 3,878

$ 7,940 $ 7,739

12. Fair value of financial instruments
a)   Fair value hierarchy

The Fund classifies fair value measurements within a hierarchy which gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3).  The three levels of the fair value 
hierarchy are:

Level 1  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date.

Level 2  Inputs other than quoted market prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or 
indirectly; and

Level 3 Inputs are unobservable for the asset or liability.

If inputs of different levels are used to measure an asset’s or liability’s fair value, the classification within the hierarchy is based on the lowest 
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement.  
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12. Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
a)   Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The Manager is responsible for performing fair value measurements included in the financial statements of the Fund, including Level 3 
measurements.  The Manager performs semi-annual valuations as at the last day of February and the last day of August in each year on 
the basis of policies and procedures established by the Fund’s Board of Directors.  For investments for which no public market exists, the 
valuations are performed based on the Canadian Venture Capital and Private Equity Association valuation guidelines.  The semi-annual 
valuations are approved by the Investment Committee of the Board of Directors, and the valuation prepared as at the end of August in each 
year is also presented to the Board of Directors for approval.  

The Fund’s venture investments are classified as Level 1 when the security is actively traded and a reliable price is observable.  The 
determination of the fair value of venture investments that are not traded in an active market typically requires the use of significant 
unobservable inputs and, as a result, these investments are classified as Level 3.

There were no financial instruments that were transferred into or out of Level 1 or 2 during the six months ended February 29, 2016 and 
February 28, 2015.  The following tables illustrate the classification of the Fund’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value within the fair 
value hierarchy for each share class as at February 29, 2016 and August 31, 2015:

i.   Class A 
 

February 29, 2016

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Short-term investments $  - $  13,300 $  - $ 13,300

Venture investments 1,722 - 229,315 231,037

$  1,722 $  13,300 $  229,315 $  244,337

August 31, 2015

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Short-term investments $  - $  19,799 $  - $  19,799

Venture investments 2,984 - 241,286 244,270

$ 2,984 $  19,799 $  241,286 $  264,069

ii.   Class I

February 29, 2016

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Short-term investments $  - $  12,241 $  - $  12,241

Venture investments 44 - 9,468 9,512

$  44 $  12,241 $  9,468 $  21,753

August 31, 2015

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Short-term investments $  - $  12,396 $  - $  12,396

Venture investments 100 - 8,477 8,577

$  100 $  12,396 $  8,477 $  20,973
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12. Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
a)   Fair value hierarchy (continued)

iii.   Class R

February 29, 2016

Level 2 Level 3 Total

Short-term investments $  2,906 $  - $  2,906

Venture investments - 2,721 2,721

$  2,906 $  2,721 $  5,627

August 31, 2015

Level 2 Level 3 Total

Short-term investments $  2,088 $  - $  2,088

Venture investments - 3,878 3,878

$  2,088 $  3,878 $  5,966

All fair value measurements above are recurring.  The carrying values of subscriptions receivable, interest and other receivables, funds held in 
trust, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, redemptions payable, loss support program contributions and advances, IPA, contingent IPA, 
and the Fund’s obligation for net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares are short-term in nature.

b)  Changes in Level 3 instruments

The following tables present the movement in Level 3 instruments for the six month ended February 29, 2016 and February 28, 2015:

i.   Class A

Six months ended 
February 29, 2016

Six months ended 
February 28, 2015

Beginning balance $  241,286 $  191,795

Purchases 11,455 24,915

Partnership income recognized 9,772 8,103

Partnership distributions received (8,600) (2,192)

Repayments (3,167) (4,727)

Dispositions (8,789) (7,835)

Net realized (losses) gains (5,904) 7,593

Net unrealized losses (6,738) (15,938)

Ending balance $  229,315 $  201,714

Net unrealized losses during the period included in the Statements of 
Comprehensive Income  for Level 3 assets held at end of period $  (5,385) $  (16,118)
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12. Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
b)  Changes in Level 3 instruments (continued)

ii.   Class I

Six months ended 
February 29, 2016

Six months ended 
February 28, 2015

Beginning balance $  8,477 $  5,224

Purchases 522 1,202

Partnership income recognized 364 207

Partnership distributions received (189) -

Repayments (11) -

Net unrealized gains 305 36

Ending balance $ 9,468 $  6,669

Net unrealized gains during the period included in the Statements of 
Comprehensive Income  for Level 3 assets held at end of period $ 305 $ 36

iii.   Class R

Six months ended 
February 29, 2016

Six months ended 
February 28, 2015

Beginning balance $  3,878 $ 2,366

Purchases 210 779

Repayments - (76)

Dispositions (714) (10)

Net realized gains 414 10

Net unrealized (losses) gains (1,067) 27

Ending balance $  2,721 $ 3,096

Net unrealized (losses) gains during the period included in the 
Statements of Comprehensive Income  for Level 3 assets held at  
end of period $  (38) $ 27

c)  Level 3 measurements

The following tables present the fair value, categorized by key valuation techniques and the unobservable inputs used within Level 3 as of 
February 29, 2016 and August 31, 2015.

The sensitivity analysis set out below is intended to reflect the uncertainty inherent in the valuation of these investments under current market 
conditions, and its results cannot be extrapolated due to non-linear effects that changes in valuation assumptions may have on the fair value of 
these investments.  While this illustrates the overall effect of changing the values of the unobservable inputs by a set percentage, the significance 
of the impact and the range of reasonably possible alternative assumptions may differ significantly between investments, given their different 
terms and circumstances.  Furthermore, the analysis does not indicate a probability of such changes occurring and it does not necessarily 
represent the Fund’s view of expected future changes in the fair value of these investments.  Any management actions that may be taken to 
mitigate the inherent risks are not reflected in this analysis.
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12. Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
c)  Level 3 measurements (continued)

i.   Class A
February 29, 2016

Fair value Unobservable inputs Range of inputs

Enterprise multiple $ 95,507 EBITDA Multiple 3.24x – 4.44x

NAV/unit 34,742 % variance 100%

Discounted cash flow 50,899 Discount rate 9% - 50%

Recent financing 31,495 Transaction price n/a

Asset value of recoverable reserves 9,917 % variance 100%

Tangible book value 6,755 % variance 100%

$ 229,315  

August 31, 2015

Fair value Unobservable inputs Range of inputs

Enterprise multiple $ 103,999 EBITDA Multiple 3.24x – 4.44x

NAV/unit 37,229 % variance 100%

Discounted cash flow 33,781 Discount rate 9% - 50%

Recent financing 31,879 Transaction price n/a

Asset value of recoverable reserves 27,643 % variance 100%

Tangible book value 6,755 % variance 100%

$ 241,286

For those Class A investments valued based on recent financing, NAV/unit or asset value of recoverable reserves, management has determined 
that there are no reasonably possible alternative assumptions that would change the fair values significantly as at February 29, 2016 and August 
31, 2015.  

For Class A share investments valued using an enterprise multiple, a +/- 10% change in the fair value of those investments at February 29, 2016 
will result in a corresponding change of +/- $9,551 (August 31, 2015 - $10,400) in the total fair value of the venture investments.  A change of +/- 
10% in the fair value of Class A share investments valued using discounted cash flows will result in a change of +/- $5,090 in the total fair value 
of the venture investments at February 29, 2016 (August 31, 2015 - $3,378).  For Class A share investments valued using tangible book value, a 
+/- 10% change in the fair value of those investments at February 29, 2016 will result in a corresponding change of +/- $676 (August 31, 2015 - 
$676) in the total fair value of the venture investments. 

ii.   Class I
February 29, 2016

Fair value Unobservable inputs Range of inputs

Discounted cash flow $ 4,366 Discount rate 11% - 50%

Enterprise multiple 3,010 EBITDA Multiple 3.24x – 4.44x

Recent financing 2,092 Transaction price n/a

$ 9,468
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12. Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
c)  Level 3 measurements (continued) 

ii.   Class I (continued)

August 31, 2015

Fair value Unobservable inputs Range of inputs

Discounted cash flow $ 3,231 Discount rate 11% - 36%

Enterprise multiple 3,267 EBITDA Multiple 3.24x – 4.44x

Recent financing 1,979 Transaction price n/a

$ 8,477

For those Class I investments valued based on recent financing, management has determined that there are no reasonably possible 
alternative assumptions that would change the fair values significantly as at February 29, 2016 and August 31, 2015.  

For Class I share investments valued using an enterprise multiple, a +/- 10% change in the fair value of those investments at February 29, 
2016 will result in a corresponding change of +/- $301 (August 31, 2015 - $327) in the total fair value of the venture investments.  A change 
of +/- 10% in the fair value of Class I share investments valued using discounted cash flows will result in a change of +/- $437 in the total fair 
value of the venture investments at February 29, 2016 (August 31, 2015 - $323).  

iii.   Class R  

February 29, 2016

Fair value Unobservable inputs Range of inputs

Asset value of recoverable reserves $ 475 % variance 100%

NAV/unit 1,785 % variance 100%

Recent financing 461 Transaction price n/a

$ 2,721

August 31, 2015

Fair value Unobservable inputs Range of inputs

Asset value of recoverable reserves $ 1,877 % variance 100%

NAV/unit 1,788 % variance 100%

Recent financing 213 Transaction price n/a

$ 3,878

All Class R investments are valued based on recent financing, NAV/unit or asset value of recoverable reserves, and management has 
determined that there are no reasonably possible alternative assumptions that would change the fair values significantly as at February 29, 
2016 and August 31, 2015.

 52

 
G

ol
de

n 
O

pp
or

tu
ni

tie
s F

un
d 

In
c.

  | 
 2

01
6 

 s
em

i-a
nn

ua
l r

ep
or

t



13. Risks associated with financial instruments
The Fund’s activities expose it to a variety of risks associated with financial instruments, including credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk 
(including price risk and interest rate risk).  The Fund has no exposure to currency risk as all financial instruments of the Fund are denominated 
in Canadian currency.  The objective of the Fund is to manage these risks while maintaining a risk/return balance that is consistent with the 
Fund’s investment objectives.  The Manager seeks to mitigate these risks by monitoring the Fund’s investment holdings and by diversifying the 
investment portfolio within the constraints of governing legislation.  There is a risk of loss of capital for all investments made by the Fund.

a)   Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to discharge an obligation.  
Concentration of credit risk relates to groups of counterparties that have similar economic or industry characteristics that cause their ability to 
meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic or other conditions.  The majority of the credit risk to which the 
Fund is exposed arises from its short-term investments, venture investments in debt securities, and accrued interest receivable.  For each of 
the Fund’s share classes the maximum exposure to credit risk is the cost of debt venture investments and the carrying amount of short-term 
investments and accrued interest receivable.  

The Fund analyzes credit concentration based on the counterparty, industry and geographic location.  To mitigate counterparty risk in regards 
to its debt venture investments, the Fund has, where possible, secured its debt investments with first or subordinated charges of the assets 
of the investee company and imposed certain financial covenants on the investee companies.  The Fund seeks to mitigate risks associated 
with a particular industry by investing its venture investment portfolio in a diverse range of industries.  The Fund seeks to mitigate credit risk 
in its short-term investments portfolio by investing in instruments with a minimum Dominion Bond rating of A or in instruments that are 
guaranteed by the Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation.

For the Class A shares, the maximum credit risk exposure as at February 29, 2016 is $72,213 (August 31, 2015 - $86,232).  The diversification of 
the Class A venture investments by industry sector is outlined in Note 13(d).  Although the Class A shares’ venture investment portfolio consists 
primarily of Saskatchewan and Manitoba companies, the markets for those companies are worldwide.  To mitigate the geographic risk, the 
Class A shares have invested in companies with a diverse range of end markets.  

The maximum credit risk exposure for the Class I shares as at February 29, 2016 is $14,809 (August 31, 2015 - $14,147).  The Class I shares’ 
venture investment portfolio includes investments in six debt instruments at February 29, 2016 (August 31, 2015 – five).  The credit risk on 
these investments is mitigated by the Western Economic Diversification Canada loss support program outlined in Note 6.  

For the Class R shares, the maximum credit risk exposure as at February 29, 2016 is $4,414 (August 31, 2015 - $3,598).  At February 29, 2016, the 
Class R shares’ venture investment portfolio includes investments in three debt instruments (August 31, 2015 – three).  

b)  Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities.  The Fund is exposed 
to weekly cash redemptions of its shares and has instituted a liquid reserve policy for each share class for the purpose of managing its liquidity 
risk and to ensure the Fund maintains available reserves to meet its financial obligations or potential obligations.  Under the liquid reserve 
policy, each share class of the Fund will maintain reserves equal to the lesser of 20% of retained earnings or 50% of net earnings after taxes for 
the previous fiscal year.  In addition, the Fund will also maintain on reserve an amount equal to 25% of all guarantees issued.  At February 29, 
2016, there are no guarantees issued.

The Fund invests in debt securities and equity investments that are not traded in an active market.  As a result, the Fund may not be able to 
quickly liquidate its investments in these instruments at amounts which approximate their fair values, or be able to respond to specific events 
such as deterioration in the creditworthiness of any particular issuer.

The financial liabilities of the Fund mature in less than three months with the exception of the contingent IPA.  The contingent IPA is an 
estimate, based on unrealized gains and excess returns, that would have been payable had the Fund disposed of its entire venture investment 
portfolio at fair value at February 29, 2016.  The maturity of the contingent IPA is uncertain and is only payable to the Manager if specific criteria 
are met, as outlined in Note 9(f ).  

Although the redeemable shares are redeemable on demand at the holder’s option, holders of the Fund’s shares typically retain them for an 
extended period.  Furthermore, subject to certain restrictions, the Fund is not obligated to redeem its shares under certain circumstances 
as outlined in the Fund’s prospectus.  Based on the redemption history of the Fund, the Manager expects that the redeemable shares 
outstanding at February 29, 2016 will be redeemed over a period of several years.
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13. Risks associated with financial instruments (continued) 
c)   Market risk

The Fund’s investments are subject to market risk which is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices.  

 i.   Interest rate risk

  Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
interest rates.  The Fund holds securities with fixed interest rates that expose the Fund to fair value interest rate risk.  The Fund attempts to 
mitigate this risk by investing all cash and short-term investments at short-term market interest rates.  The Fund also holds debt venture 
investments subject to variable interest rates, which exposes the Fund to cash flow interest rate risk.  The Fund mitigates this risk by 
maintaining fixed interest rates on a portion of its debt venture investments.  Based on cost, at February 29, 2016, 38.9% (August 31, 2015 
- 46.6%) of the Class A shares’ debt venture investments and 100% (August 31, 2015 - 100%) of the Class I shares’ debt venture investments 
bear interest at fixed rates.  All of the Class R share debt venture investments bear interest at variable rates.

   ii.  Price risk

  The Fund is exposed to price risk, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk).  The Fund is exposed to fluctuations in the value 
of its equity venture investments due to such risks as commodity prices or changes to the public markets.  

  The venture investment portfolio of the Class A shares is exposed to commodity prices such as oil and gas, ethanol, and agricultural 
commodities, however the Fund seeks to mitigate this risk by investing in a diverse range of industries.  As at February 29, 2016, the Class 
A shares were invested in 12 different industry sectors (August 31, 2015 – 11).  Although the Fund invests primarily in private companies, 
the Fund has acquired publicly traded companies through the exit of private companies and, as a result, is exposed to fluctuations in the 
public market.  Based on fair value, as at February 29, 2016, publicly traded companies make up 0.8% (August 31, 2015 – 1.2%) of the Class 
A venture investment portfolio.  As at February 29, 2016, a 10% change in the value of the publicly traded securities will cause a $0.01 per 
share (August 31, 2015 - $0.02) or 0.1% (August 31, 2015 - 0.1%) change in the Pricing NAV of the Class A shares, and a $0.01 per share or 
0.1% change in the Pricing NAV of the Class A-F shares. 

  The Fund invests the share capital raised from the issue of Class I shares in companies in the innovation sector of the Saskatchewan and 
Manitoba economies.  Although not as diversified as the Class A share investments, the Fund has entered into a loss support program with 
Western Economic Diversification Canada aimed at supporting certain losses in investments made with funds raised through the issue 
of Class I shares.  Details of the loss support program are contained in the Fund’s prospectus.  As at February 29, 2016, the Class I shares 
were invested in thirteen (August 31, 2015 – twelve) private companies and one public company (August 31, 2015 – one company) in four 
(August 31, 2015 – four) different industry sectors.  Based on fair value, as at February 29, 2016, the publicly traded companies make up 
0.5% (August 31, 2015 – 1.2%) of the Class I venture investment portfolio and a 10% change in the value of the publicly traded securities will 
cause a change of less than $0.01 per share in the Pricing NAV of the Class I shares and the Class I-F shares.  

  The Fund invests the share capital raised from the issue of Class R shares in companies in the resource sector of the Saskatchewan economy.  
As at February 29, 2016, the Class R shares were invested in eight (August 31, 2015 – eight) private companies in the resource sector.

d)   Concentration risk

Concentration risk arises as a result of the concentration of exposures within the same category, whether it is geographic location, product 
type, industry sector or counterparty type.  A summary of the venture portfolio concentration by industry sector and stage of development is 
provided in the Schedule of Investment Portfolio for each of the Fund’s share classes.  The Class R share is a resource focused share class with 
a strategy to invest in companies in the energy, mining and/or related resource sectors of the Saskatchewan economy.  Accordingly, all of the 
Class R share venture investments are in the oil & gas sector as at February 29, 2016 and August 31, 2015.

e)  Capital risk management

Redeemable shares issued and outstanding are considered to be the capital of the Fund.  The Manager manages the capital of the Fund in 
accordance with the Fund’s investment objectives, policies, and restrictions as outlined in the Fund’s prospectus, while attempting to maintain 
sufficient liquidity to meet shareholder redemptions, operational requirements, and future venture investments.  

The Fund is subject to the investment pacing requirements under the provisions of the Saskatchewan Act and the Manitoba Act.  Pursuant to 
the Saskatchewan Act, the Fund is obligated, during the 24-month period following the end of the fiscal year in which the Saskatchewan share 
capital is raised, to invest and maintain at least 75% of the SK Equity in investment instruments issued by eligible businesses or in any other type of 
investment authorized by the Saskatchewan Act.  Pursuant to the Manitoba Act, the Fund is obligated, during the 24-month period following the 
end of the fiscal year in which the MB Equity is raised, to invest and maintain at least 70% of the MB Equity in eligible investments issued by eligible 
business entities or in any other type of investment authorized by the Manitoba Act, and 14% of the MB Equity so invested must be in eligible 
investments for which the total cost of the eligible investments held by the Fund in such entity and any related entities does not exceed $2,000.  
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13. Risks associated with financial instruments (continued)
e)  Capital risk management (continued)

Under the Saskatchewan Act, an amount equal to 20% of the capital raised in Saskatchewan must be set aside in a trust fund until such time 
as the Fund has met the investment requirements as set forth in the Saskatchewan Act.  At February 29, 2016, Class A share cash and short-
term investments of $2,476 (August 31, 2015 - $11,326) are held within the trust fund. At February 29, 2016, Class I share cash and short-term 
investments of $408 (August 31, 2015 - $2,516) are held within the trust fund. At February 29, 2016, Class R share cash and short-term investments 
of $459 (August 31, 2015 - $846) are held within the trust fund. Pending release, the trust monies will be invested in investments permitted by the 
Saskatchewan Act.  As at February 29, 2016, the Fund was in compliance with the investment pacing requirements under both the Saskatchewan 
Act and the Manitoba Act, and can access available funds.

The Saskatchewan government has enacted legislative changes requiring labour-sponsored venture capital corporation funds to invest a 
prescribed percentage of its annual net capital (being annual capital raised less annual capital required to satisfy redemption obligations) in 
eligible innovation activities.  Eligible innovation activities include: (i) activities carried out by an eligible business whose principal business is 
directly related to one or more of the following sectors: clean or environmental technology, health and life sciences, crop and animal sciences, 
industrial biotechnology, information and communication technology; or (ii) activities carried out by an eligible business that involves technical 
risk, productivity improvement or the application of a technology, process or innovation that is new to Saskatchewan and facilitates growth, 
supports trade or exports or enhances Saskatchewan’s competitiveness.  The prescribed amount is 15% in 2015-2016 and 18.75% in 2016-2017 
and thereafter.

14. Taxation
All share classes of the Fund are combined as a single legal entity in computing the net income (loss) and net capital gains (losses) for tax 
purposes.  Income taxes, if any, are allocated to the classes of the shares of the Fund on a fair and reasonable basis.

Under the Federal Act, no taxes are generally payable by the Fund on dividends received from Canadian corporations, and income taxes 
payable on capital gains are substantially refundable on a formula basis when shares of the Fund are redeemed or capital gains dividends are 
paid, or deemed to be paid, by the Fund to its shareholders.  A portion of the income taxes payable on net interest income earned by the Fund 
is also refundable on payment, or deemed payment, of taxable dividends to the shareholders.

The Fund is able to minimize income taxes through the deemed payment of a dividend by capitalizing an amount of its taxable income as 
paid up capital on its Class A, Class I or Class R shares, or a combination of thereof.  If, and to the extent that, the Fund increases the paid up 
capital of the Class A, Class I or Class R shares, the holder of the shares will be deemed to have received a dividend and the adjusted cost base 
of the holder’s shares will be increased by the deemed dividend.  

Temporary differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts may be either taxable or deductible.  Taxable 
temporary differences give rise to future income tax liabilities and deductible temporary differences give rise to future income tax assets.  
When the fair value of investments is greater than its tax basis, a future income tax liability arises and the future tax liability is offset by 
refundable taxes generated by future payments of capital gains dividends.  When the fair value of investments is less than its tax basis, a future 
income tax asset arises and, due to the uncertainty of such future income tax assets ultimately being realized, a full valuation allowance is 
applied to offset the asset.  Any unused capital and non-capital losses represent future income tax assets to the Fund for which a full valuation 
allowance has been established such that no net benefit has been recorded by the Fund.

As at February 29, 2016, the Fund has non-capital losses available for carryforward of $2,358 (August 31, 2015 - $227), and capital losses 
available for carryforward of $9,503 (August 31, 2015 - $4,273).
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15. Related party transactions 
During the six months ended February 29, 2016, management fees, including GST, on Class A shares of $3,408 (six months ended February 
28, 2015 - $3,190) were paid or payable to the Manager, a company controlled by the President & Chief Executive Officer of the Fund, and the 
Manager earned an IPA on the Class A shares of $1,069 (six months ended February 28, 2015 - $nil).  At February 29, 2016 a contingent IPA was 
accrued on Class A shares in the amount of $19,966 (August 31, 2015 - $21,698).  

On Class I shares, management fees of $287 were paid or payable during the six months ended February 29, 2016 (February 28, 2015 - $224).  
As at February 29, 2016, a contingent IPA was accrued on Class I shares in the amount of $782 (August 31, 2015 - $607).  There was no IPA paid 
or payable with respect to Class I shares for the six months ended February 29, 2016 or February 28, 2015.     

Management fees of $101 were paid or payable on Class R shares during the six months ended February 29, 2016 (six months ended February 
28, 2015 – $73), and the Manager earned an IPA on the Class R shares of $87 (six months ended February 28, 2015 - $nil).  At February 29, 2016, 
a contingent IPA was accrued on Class R shares in the amount of $74 (February 28, 2015 - $259).  

The Manager does not begin to earn the management fee with respect to the F Series until the Fund has reached $5,000 in gross subscriptions 
for F Series shares.  As a result, Class A-F management fees of $1 were unearned in the six months ended February 29, 2016.  Unearned 
management fees on the Class I-F and Class R-F for the period ended February 29, 2016 were not significant.

In respect of the Class A shares, office costs totaling $5 were paid or payable to the Manager in the six months ended February 29, 2016 (six 
months ended February 28, 2015 - $5).  There were no office or other costs paid or payable by the Class I or Class R shares to the Manager in 
the six months ended February 29, 2016 or February 28, 2015.    

At February 29, 2016, the accounts payable and accrued liabilities balance for Class A shares includes management fees payable to the 
Manager of $534 (August 31, 2015 - $571) and office and other costs payable to the Manager of $1 (August 31, 2015 - $1).  At February 29, 
2016, the accounts payable and accrued liabilities balance for Class I shares includes management fees payable to the Manager of $46 (August 
31, 2015 - $38).  Management fees payable to the Manager of $16 are included in the accounts payable and accrued liabilities balance for Class 
R shares at February 29, 2016 (August 31, 2015 - $13).  

The above-mentioned transactions were in the normal course of operations, are non-interest bearing, and are measured at the exchange 
amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.
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Concentra Trust 

333, 3rd Avenue north, saskatoon, sK   s7K 2M2 

AgEnt And prinCipAl distributor 

National Bank Financial Inc. 
suite 1360, 410 - 22nd st. East, saskatoon, sK   s7K 5t6 

trAnsfEr AgEnt 
Prometa Fund Support Services Inc. 
220 - 155 Carlton street, Winnipeg Mb  r3C 3H8 

proud sponsor 
Construction and General Workers’ Union, 
Local 180 

1866 McAra street, regina, sK   s4n 6C4

Fund Manager: 

 

suite 830, 410 - 22nd st. East, saskatoon, sK   s7K 5t6

Leading Fund Manager ranked as  
Top 12 Most Active Private Equity  
Investors in Canada in 2015!*

fund Codes gof501 (Class A sK), gof502 (Class A Mb), gof503 (Class i sK), gof504 (Class i Mb), gof505 (Class r sK), 

gof507 (Class A-f sK), gof508 (Class A-f Mb), gof509 (Class i-f sK), gof510 (Class i-f Mb), gof511 (Class r-f sK)

Board of Directors

Honourable William McKnight2,4 
Chairman 
Chairman, McKnight & Associates

Brian L. Barber1,3 
Vice Chairman 
senior Vice-president, saskatchewan, ledcor 

Construction limited

Donald R. Ching3 
director 
retired businessman (formerly president and Chief 

Executive officer, ArEVA resources Canada inc.)

Lorraine Sali4 
director 
business Manager for the sponsor, Construction and 

general Workers’ union, local 180

Thomas A. Shepherd1,3 
director 
retired businessman (formerly senior Vice-president, 

dundee realty Corporation)

James S. Salamon1 
director 
Managing partner, srg Chartered professional Accountants

Ronald S. Waldman2 
director 
president /Chief Executive officer, Keystone Consulting inc.

Grant J. Kook2,4 
president/Chief Executive officer/director 
president and Chief Executive officer, Westcap Mgt. ltd.

Douglas W. Banzet1 
Chief financial officer/director 
Chief operating officer, Westcap Mgt. ltd.

golden opportunities’ governance

1 Audit Committee 
2 Valuation Committee 
3 investment Committee 
4 governance and nominations Committee

*Canadian Venture Capital & private Equity Association’s 2015 Canadian private Equity Market overview.



Corporate Head Office
suite 830, 410 - 22nd st. East, saskatoon, sK   s7K 5t6 
tel:  306.652.5557 
fax:  306.652.8186 
Email: info@goldenopportunities.ca


